

# AEROMEDICAL GUIDANCE MANUAL Vol: 1

Manual Number: 1.4.1.2

Issue Date: 1st November 2021

**Revision: 06** 



**Intentional Left Blank** 

TITLE						
	Aeromedical Guidance Manual					
CLASSIFICATION		TYPE OF DOCUM	TYPE OF DOCUMENT STATUS			
Public		Technical Document		Draft		
Internal	$\boxtimes$	Presentation		Under Revision		
Exclusive use by CAA		Proposal / Report		Upgradeable		
Confidential		Other		Final Report		$\boxtimes$
FILE NAME:		Aeromedical Guidance Manual				
Date: 30 Dec 2020		NAME / RESP SIGNATUR		GNATURE		
DRAFTED BY:		Dr. Issam Salameh		Dr. I.A.Al.Salameh		
REVIEWED BY:		John Carr: Document Control		JNCarr		
APPROVED BY:		Mubarak Saleh Al-Ghelani: DG DGCAR				

Page	Rev	Date of
No.	No.	Issue
1	06	01/11/21
2	06	01/11/21
3	06	01/11/21
4	06	01/11/21
5	06	01/11/21
6	06	01/11/21
7	06	01/11/21
8	06	01/11/21
9	06	01/11/21
10	06	01/11/21
11	06	01/11/21
12	06	01/11/21
13	06	01/11/21
14	06	01/11/21
15	06	01/11/21
16	06	01/11/21
17	06	01/11/21
18	06	01/11/21
19	06	01/11/21
20	06	01/11/21
21	06	01/11/21
22	06	01/11/21
23	06	01/11/21
24	06	01/11/21
25	06	01/11/21
26	06	01/11/21
27	06	01/11/21
28	06	01/11/21
29	06	01/11/21
30	06	01/11/21
31	06	01/11/21
32	06	01/11/21
33	06	01/11/21
34	06	01/11/21
35	06	01/11/21
36	06	01/11/21
37	37 06 01/11/21	
38 06 01/11/21		
		01/11/21
40	06	01/11/21

List of Effective Pages					
Page	Rev	Date of			
No.	No.	Issue			
41	06	01/11/21			
42	06	01/11/21			
43	06	01/11/21			
44	06	01/11/21			
45	06	01/11/21			
46	06	01/11/21			
47	06	01/11/21			
48	06	01/11/21			
49	06	01/11/21			
50	06	01/11/21			
51	06	01/11/21			
52	06	01/11/21			
53	06	01/11/21			
54	06	01/11/21			
55	06	01/11/21			
56	06	01/11/21			
57	06	01/11/21			
58	06	01/11/21			
59	06	01/11/21			
60	06	01/11/21			
61	06	01/11/21			
62	06	01/11/21			
63	06	01/11/21			
64	06	01/11/21			
65	06	01/11/21			
66	06	01/11/21			
67	06	01/11/21			
68	06	01/11/21			
69	06	01/11/21			
70	06	01/11/21			
71	06	01/11/21			
72	06	01/11/21			
73	06	01/11/21			
74	06	01/11/21			
75	06	01/11/21			
76	06	01/11/21			
77	06	01/11/21			
78	06	01/11/21			
79	06	01/11/21			
80	06	01/11/21			
		. ,			

Page	Rev	Date of
No.	No.	Issue
81	06	01/11/21
82		
83		
84		
85		
86		
87		
88		
89		
90		
91		
92		
93		
94		
95		
96		
97		
98		
99		
100		
101		
102		
103		
104		
105		
106		
107		
108		
109		
110		
111		
112		
113		
114		
115		
116		
117		
118		
119		

120

# **Corrigendum of Amendments**

No.	Ref	Description	
01	03	This manual has been fully revised and reissued	
02	04	The following amendments have been incorporated within this revision:  1.1.2 Request for consideration (Appeal) of Medical Certificates  1.1.3 paras (a)(1) and (c)(1) & (2) Medical Assessor (MAs)  2.1.2 Fraudulent Entries/ Declarations  2.9.3 Procedure for evaluation of aeromedical examination reports by the CAA  3.1. Scope of designated AME and SAME  3.4 Renewal of AME designation paras (c), (d) & (e)  3.12. Amended heading to read - Guidelines for the AeMC, AME Conducting the Medical Examinations and Assessments for the Medical Certification of Pilots  3.14 AeMC and AME Auditing procedures  3.15 Audit findings and observations  Appendix A with three (3) forms	
03	05	The following amendments have been incorporated within this revision:  1.1.2 paras (a) (2) to (9) and para (b)  2.1.1 New paras (b) to (l)  2.1.3 Inclusion of new paras (5) & (7)  2.9.1 New para (b)  2.9.3 New paras (c) to (f)  2.9.4 New para and after renumbered  2.9.5 Now reads as 15 days  2.9.7 New para (b)(9) and para (b)(11) amended to read twelve (12) hours  3.4 New paras (c)(2) and (3)  3.5 New para (b)  3.10 New para (c)  3.11 now every year  3.14 Rewritten  3.15 New Risk Probability explanation table  4.2 New para (c)  4.4 Rewritten with new paras included  Appendix A included with all forms  Appendix B included with all forms	
04	06	The following amendments have been incorporated within this revision:  New Chapter 5 added  Medical Declaration and Ophthalmology examination Forms are updated  New Appendix B added (to support Chapter 5)	

**Rev: 06** 

**Intentional Left Blank** 

## **Table of Contents**

Corrigen	dum of Amendments	5
Glossary	of Aviation Medical Terms and Abbreviations	11
Forewore	d	15
1.	Procedures for Aeromedical Oversight	17
1.1.	Aeromedical Board	17
1.1.	1. Establishment	17
1.1.	2. Procedural Function of the Aeromedical Board	17
1.1.	3. Medical Assessor (MAs)	19
1.2.	Aeromedical Evaluation Board	21
2.	Medical Certification	23
2.1.	General Requirements	23
2.1.	1. Decrease in medical fitness	23
2.1.	2. Fraudulent Entries/ Declarations	23
2.1.	3. Medical confidentiality	24
2.2.	Record Keeping	24
2.3.	Release of information	25
2.4.	Aeromedical Certification System	25
2.4.	1. General	25
2.4.	2. Classes of Medical Assessment	25
2.4.	3. Duration of Validity	26
2.4.	4. As the age of the license holder increases, these validity periods are shortened:	26
2.4.	5. Special consideration	27
2.4.	6. Issue, revalidation and renewal of medical certificates	27
2.5.	Medical certificates	28
2.5.	1. Requirements for medical assessments	28
2.5.	2. The following medical conditions are specifically disqualifying	28
2.5.	3. Special issuance (SI) a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA)	29
2.6.	Application for a medical certificate	30
2.7.	Issuance, revalidation and renewal of medical certificates	30
2.8.	Suspension or revocation of medical certificates	31
2.9.	Referral	31
2.9.	1. Referral to the Licensing Authority	31

	2.9.	.2.	Flexibility	32
	2.9.	.3.	Procedure for the evaluation of Aeromedical examination reports by CAA	35
	2.9.	.4.	Aeromedical filing system (FLS)	36
	2.9.	.5.	Submission of Applications and Medical Examinations	36
	2.9.	.6.	Protection and Destruction of Forms	36
	2.9.	.7.	License Holder Rights and Responsibilities	37
	2.9.	.8.	Holders of medical certificates who are aware of:	39
3	•	Desi	gnation Aviation Medical Examiner and Senior AME (SAME).	41
	3.1.	Sco	oe of Designated AME and SAME	41
	3.2.	Qua	lifications and Training Required for Initial Designation of an AME	41
	3.3.	Req	uest for designation as an AME	42
	3.3.	.1.	The Designation Letter will be sent to the physician along with following:	42
	3.4.	Ren	ewal AME Designation	43
	3.5.	Res	oonsibilities of Designated Aviation Medical Examiner (AME)	45
	3.6.	Priv	ileges of Aeromedical examiner (AME)	46
	3.7.	Req	uirements for the AME to extend privileges to act as an SAME	46
	3.7.	.1.	Designation of a Senior Aeromedical Examiners (SAME) certificate	47
	3.7.	.2.	Privileges of Senior Aeromedical examiner (SAME)	47
	3.8.	Adv	ance course in Aviation Medicine include the following:	47
	3.9.	Con	tinuous training in aviation medicine	47
	3.9.	.1.	Scientific meetings that should be accredited by the CAA are:	48
	3.10.	Des	ignation medical specialist	48
	3.10	0.1.	Privilege of Approved Specialist	49
	3.10	0.2.	The performance report of the specialist will be based on the following criteria:	49
	3.10	0.3.	Obligations of Approved Specialist.	49
	3.11.	AeN	1C – Aero-Medical Centres	50
	3.13	1.1.	Application for Aero-medical Centre (AeMC)	50
	3.13	1.2.	AeMC Requirements:	50
	3.13	1.3.	Head of Aeromedical Center	51
	3.13	1.4.	SOP	52
	3.13	1.5.	Internal Management and verification system	52
	3 1	16	Fauinment Requirements AeMC	52

3.12		Guid	delines for the AeMC, AME Conducting the Medical Examinations and Asse	essments
		for t	he Medical Certification of Pilots, ATC and Cabin Crew	53
	3.12	2.1.	Before performing the medical examination, the AeMC, AME:	53
	3.12	2.2.	Who May Be Certified	54
	3.13.	Obli	gations of the AeMC, AME, SAME,	54
	3.14.	Prod	edure for Auditing AeMC and AME Performance Evaluation	55
	3.15.	Aud	it Findings and Observations and AME Performance Evaluation	57
4.		Aero	omedical Certification Requirements	63
	4.1.	Intro	oduction	63
	4.2.	Phys	sical, psychological and mental requirements	63
	4.3.		requirements for medical assessments in ICAO Annex 1, Chapter 6, are lis	
	4.4.	Gen	eral Medical Requirements	64
	4.5.	Арр	lication Process for Medical Certification	65
	4.5.	1.	General Information - Replacement of Medical Certificates	65
	4.5.	2.	Operational limitation codes.	65
	4.5.	3.	Limitations to medical certificates (B)	66
	4.5.	4.	Limitation Codes	67
5.		Med	lical Certification Requirements (Over Sixty (60))	68
	5.1.	Initi	al issuance of over 60 <sup>th</sup> birthday medical certificate requirements	68
	5.2.	Rev	alidation Requirements	68
	5.3.	Alco	hol screening tests	69
	5.3.	1.	Indications	69
	5.3.	2.	Screening tools:	69
	5.3.	3.	Laboratory testing	70
	5.3.	4.	Laboratory evaluation	70
6.		APP	ENDIX A – MEDICAL FORMS	71
7.		APP	ENDIX B – ALCOHOL ASSESSMENT FORMS	79



**Rev: 06** 

**Intentionally Left Blank** 

## **Glossary of Aviation Medical Terms and Abbreviations**

The following terms or acronyms may be used in any manual or document published by CAA. Reproduction in part or whole is allowed without prior approval. Document Control reserves the rights to include such a listing in any CAA manual or document prior to publishing.

Abbreviation	Meaning
AASI	AME Assisted Special Issuance
AMCs	Aeromedical Certification System
AMB	Aeromedical Board
AME	Aeromedical Examiner
AeMC	Aeromedical Center
AMEB	Aeromedical Evaluation Board
ASD	Alcohol Screening device
ATCO	Air Traffic Controller
ATF	Alcohol testing form
ATPL	Airline Transport License
BAT	Breath Alcohol Technician
CAA	Civil Aviation Authority
CACI	Condition AME Can Issue
CPL	Commercial Pilot License
DAME	Designated Aviation Medical Examiner
EBTD	Evidential Breath testing device (Confirmatory breath test)
ICAO	International Civil Aviation Organization
DGCAR	Director General Civil Aviation Regulation
DCA	Director of Civil Aviation
DFS	Director flight Safety
GXT	Graded Exercise Test
MAS	Medical Assessor (MAs)
MFT	Medical flight test
PPL	Private Pilot License
SAME	Senior Aeromedical Examiner
SARPS	Standards and Recommended Practices
SI	Special Issuance
SODA	Statement of Demonstrated Ability
STT	Screening test technician
USC	Urine Specimen Collection

Accredited medical conclusion

Means the conclusion reached by one or more medical experts acceptable to the Director for the purposes of the case concerned, in consultation with flight operations or other experts as necessary

Adulteration

Means any process by which an individual knowingly interferes with (or attempts to interfere with) the processes of specimen collection, transport or analysis with the intention of avoiding a legitimate test result. The actions undertaken can include (but are not limited to) the addition of water or foreign substances to the specimen, specimen substitution, damaging bottle seals or packaging and the deliberate consumption of interfering substances or copious volumes of water prior to specimen collection:

Calibrator

Means a solution of known concentration used to calibrate a measurement procedure or to compare the response obtained with the response of a test sample/unknown sample. The concentration of the analyte of interest in the calibrator is known within limits ascertained during its preparation. Calibrators may be used as single point measurements or to establish a calibration curve over a range of interest;

Chain of Custody

Refers to procedures to account for each specimen by tracking its handling and storage from point of collection to final disposal. These procedures require that the donor identity is confirmed and that a chain of custody form is used from time of collection to receipt by the laboratory. Within the laboratory appropriate chain of custody records must account for the samples until disposal;

Chain of Custody Form

Cabin Crew member

Means a form used to document the procedures from time of collection until receipt by the laboratory;

Means a crew member licensed in terms of Part 64 who performs, in the interest of safety of passengers, duties assigned by the operator or the PIC of the aircraft, but who shall not act as a flight crew member;

Collection Site

Means a place where individuals present themselves for the purpose of providing a specimen for subsequent analysis;

Collection cup

Refers to a single-use container, made of plastic, large enough to easily catch and hold at least 45 mL of urine voided from the body. Must be individually wrapped in a sealed plastic bag or shrink wrapping; or must have a peelable, sealed lid or other easily visible tamper-evident system;

**Confirmation Test** 

Means an analytical procedure to identify and quantify the presence of a specific drug or analyte which is independent of the initial test and which uses a different technique and chemical principle from that of the screen test in order to ensure reliability and accuracy;

Cut-off

Means a concentration level set to determine whether the sample is

positive or negative for the presence of a drug;

Customer Means the organization requesting the drug testing service; Means the individual from whom a specimen is collected; Donor

Flight crew member;

A licensed crew member charged with duties essential to the operation of

an aircraft during flight time

Glider Means a heavier-than-air aircraft, other than a hang-glider, that is supported in flight by the dynamic reaction of the air against its fixed, lifting surfaces, and whereof free flight does not depend on an engine; Medical service Means the person, associated with an air ambulance operator for the provider purposes of taking responsibility for the medical aspects of the operation and who is subject to the legislation administered by the Department of Health; Laboratory Means the facility that is approved by CAA National Accreditation Standard providing the analytical services to detect drugs of abuse; (MRO) Medical Review Officer: Means a medical physician responsible for receiving laboratory results from the drug-testing laboratory that has knowledge of substance abuse and has appropriate training or experience to interpret and evaluate an individual's positive test result, considering the declared information: Means a preliminary result established by screening test that indicates a Negative result (screen) drug possibly present in the sample is not detected above a specified cutoff Negative result Means a result reported by the laboratory that indicates that a suspected (confirmation) drug present in the sample is below a specified cut-off; Non-negative Means a preliminary result established by screening test that indicates a result substituted drug possibly present in the sample is detected above a specified cut-off. or invalid: A specimen that is reported as adulterated, Positive result Means a result reported by the laboratory as positive means that there is (confirmation) conclusive evidence that a drug is present in the sample tested at level greater than or equal to the confirmation cut-off concentration; Pilot (to) Means to manipulate the flight controls of an aircraft during flight time and may also be referred to as pilot flying (PF); Psychoactive Means any substance with psychotropic effects, excluding caffeine and substances tobacco Sample Means a representative portion of a specimen submitted to a laboratory for testing Screen Test Means a test to eliminate negative samples from further consideration and to identify the non-negative specimens that require confirmation testing; Specimen Means the portion of (normally) urine, blood or breath that is collected from a donor; Valid When used in connection with a license, rating, certificate, validation, authority, approval, or similar document means: a) That the expiry date on the document, if any, has not been exceeded;

approved person.

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021

b) That the document has been issued legally and properly to that



**Rev: 06** 

**Intentionally Left Blank** 

### **Foreword**

This Aeromedical Board Manual has been prepared by the Flight Safety Department – Licensing Section.

This manual is for the use and guidance of DGCAR, Licensing - in the performance of their duties.

This manual outlines Directorate General of Civil Aviation Regulations policies and procedures for the oversight and management of the Aviation Medical Examiner (AME) system.

By applying the standards described within this manual in the manner stated will ensure continuity in the application of those standards and promote an overall general approach to maintaining the highest quality of safety standards within CAA and the aviation industry.

This manual contains information and instructions pertaining to the way those duties are performed. All personnel, directly or indirectly concerned with Aviation Medical Examiner system are required to use and apply the applicable procedures contained within this manual along with any other supporting documentation e.g. Civil Aviation Regulations (CARs).

Since the first edition of the Manual of Civil Aviation Medicine (Medical Manual), the medical science and aviation medicine have been continuously updated and improved based on the research, technology and practical experience which makes it necessary for the aviation medical expert to update the recommendations and standards to enable the guidance material to be implemented by CAA for the use by Aeromedical Medical Certification system, the AMB and designated AMEs and any other medical assessor to deal with medical assessment of aviation personnel.

Civil Aviation Authorities issues a medical certificate for applicants, and holders of airman medical certificates to determine whether or not they meet the required medical standards applicable to the issuance of an aviation medical certificate in accordance with the National Civil Aviation Medical Guidance material which is constantly being updated through valuable contributions provided by aviation medical specialists from ICAO Member States, based upon Annex 1 and supplementary SARPs, which specifies the minimum standards required.

Comments and recommendations to improve this manual will be forwarded to Directorate's Head of Department.



**Rev: 06** 

**Intentionally Left Blank** 

### 1. Procedures for Aeromedical Oversight

### 1.1. Aeromedical Board

### 1.1.1. Establishment

- (a) The Civil Aviation Authority has established an Aeromedical Board (AMB) as the organizational element within the Authority responsible for the oversight and management of the Aviation Medical Examiner (AME) system, develop, and establish policies, procedures, standards, and regulations governing the AME system.
- (b) Aero medical Board will consist of:
  - (1) Assistant Director General
  - (2) Director Flight Safety
  - (3) Chief of licensing section
  - (4) Medical Assessor (MAs)
  - (5) Two Senior medical examiners.
  - (6) Representative from the operation department of the concerned operator.
- (c) Responsibilities of the Aeromedical Board:
  - (1) Oversight and management of the Aviation Medical Examiner (AME) system, develop, establish policies, procedures, standards, and regulations governing the AME system as per CAR-FCL 3 and CAA Medical Guidance requirements.
  - (2) Review on appeal (petition) Regarding the suspension, amendment, modification, revocation, or denial of any certificate or license issued by the CAA Administrator.
  - (3) Aeromedical board of the CAA may hold a formal hearing at which the Medical Assessor (MAs) will present documentary evidence and testimony by medical specialists supporting the denial decision. The petitioner will also be given an opportunity to present evidence and testimony at the hearing. The decision of the CAA Aeromedical board is subject to review by the DGCAR for the Civil Aviation Authority.

### 1.1.2. Procedural Function of the Aeromedical Board

### (a) Request for reconsideration (Appeal) of Medical Certification

- (1) The AME shall report to the Director of the Flight Safety any individual who fails to meet specific minimum standards or demonstrate any of the finding or diagnosis described in the CAR-FCL 3 disqualifying in his judgment. An AME denial of a medical certificate is not a final CAA denial.
- (2) An applicant may ask for reconsideration (appeal) of an AME's denial by submitting a request in writing to the CAA DFS within 60 days who may refer the case to the MAs for initial reconsideration. If the MAs indicates that applicant fail to meet any requirements, whether numerical or otherwise, an authorization for a special issuance of a medical certificate (authorization); i.e. a waiver, valid for a specified period, may be granted to a person who show to the satisfaction of the DFS that the duties authorized by the Class of medical certificate applied for can be performed without endangering flight safety during the period in which the authorization would be in force, or

- (3) At the discretion of the CAA Medical Assessor, a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA) may be granted, instead of an Authorization, to a person whose disqualifying condition is static or non-progressive and who has been found capable of performing airman duties without endangering public safety. A SODA does not expire and authorizes a designated Examiner to issue a medical certificate of a specified class if the Examiner finds that the condition described on the SODA has not adversely changed.
- (4) If the MAs find that the applicant is not qualified, the applicant denied and referred for further reconsideration and appeal procedure by AMB as per the petition of the applicant.
- (5) The AMB decision is final which might be one of the following:
  - (i) Confirm the denial
  - (ii) The authorization for special issuance of a medical certificate is endorsed with any special limitation when the safe performance of permit or license holder duties is dependent on compliance with such limitation or restrictions.
  - (iii) May be granted a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA) to a person whose disqualifying condition is static or non-progressive and who has been found capable of performing airman duties without endangering public safety.
- (6) For the purpose of completion of the process of appeal decision, the Aeromedical Board may recommend any of the following;
  - Special medical flight test
  - Practical test
  - Medical evaluation for this purpose
- (7) A medical certificate of the appropriate Class may be issued by the AME's to a person who does not meet the normal medical standard if that person possesses a valid authorization from the CAA and is otherwise eligible. A medical certificate issued in accordance with the special issuance shall expire no later than the end of the validity period or upon the withdrawal of the authorization upon which it is based.
- (8) In granting an authorization the AMB or MAs may consider the person's operational experience and any medical fact that may affect the ability of the person to perform flight duties including the combined effect on the person of failure to meet more than one requirement and the prognosis derived from professional consideration of all available information in granting an authorization.
- (9) At the discretion of the AMB, or MAs, a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA) may be granted, instead of an Authorization, to a person whose disqualifying condition is static or non-progressive and who has been found capable of performing airman duties without endangering public safety. A SODA does not expire and authorizes a designated Examiner to issue a medical certificate of a specified class if the Examiner finds that the condition described on the SODA has not adversely changed.

### (b) The AMB may do any of the following:

- (1) Specifies the Class of medical certificate to be issued
- (2) Limit the duration of authorization
- (3) Condition the granting of a new authorization (Special Issuance, or SODA) on the result of subsequent medical test, examination, or evaluation
- (4) State on the authorization, and any medical certificate based upon it, any operational limitation needed for safety.

### (c) Withdrawal of Authorization

- (1) The AMB has the authority to withdraw the authorization granted to a person who does not meet the applicable medical standards, at any time if:
  - (i) There is deterioration in the holder's medical condition.
  - (ii) The holder fails to comply with a statement of functional limit stations or operational limitations issued as a condition of certification under the special issuance.
  - (iii) Flight safety would be endangered by the holder exercise of aircrew privileges.
  - (iv) The holder fails to provide medical information reasonably needed by the aero medical board (AMB)

Note: Paragraph (c) is only applicable if the decision was taken by the AMB

### (d) Meeting and venue:

(1) Aero medical board meetings should be conducted every three months, or when the need arises for cases of urgent decision. Place of meeting will be in the CAA Headquarters.

### (e) **Decisions:**

(1) Recommendations presented by the AMB members shall be submitted to the CAA for approval.

### 1.1.3. Medical Assessor (MAs)

Aeromedical Section of the Licensing Section is the organizational element within the CAA, run by Medical Assessor (MAs) responsible for oversight and management of the AME System. The Department develops and establishes regulations, policies, standards, and procedures, governing the AME System raise it to the AMB for approval. The Medical Assessor (MAs) is delegated the responsibility and:

- (a) Responsibilities of Medical Assessor (MAs):
  - (1) Supervise, monitoring and auditing all aviation medical issues related to issuance, renewal, referral, denial airman certificate, and making final assessment in borderline cases. based on the data, Documents, and investigation requested by him from the examiner and applicant to provide. (See Appendix A)
  - (2) Responsible and manage the process of special issuance of airman medical certificate, and issue the medical certificate with implementation or removal of limitation(s) as necessary.

- (3) Establish medical standards for flying personnel and develop programs for medical support of contingency operation.
- (4) Plan, develop and administer medical support programs in support with Aeromedical systems.
- (5) Exercise surveillance through audit, spot check, inspection, and periodic meeting with operator and AMEs to ensure that are comply with Aeromedical regulation and requirements
- (6) Draft and propose amendment to rules and regulation related to personnel licensing and to make available personnel regulations or information circulars detailing requirements necessary for the issuance of license.
- (7) Ensure implementation of aeromedical regulation guidelines for all licensed flight personnel in line with ICAO SARPS/ CAA and other international regulations
- (8) Define, designate and update standards and monitor license issuance and renewal of Aero-medical professionals.
- (9) Responsible for granted Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA), instead of an Authorization.
- (10) Responsible for Submitting sufficient medical information to the Licensing Authority to enable the Authority to Arrange for Medical Assessment audits.
- (11) In charge of Accredited Medical Conclusions.
- (12) Safeguarding of medical confidentiality.
- (13) Chair AMB meeting.
- (14) Responsible in appointment the member of review medical committee when required
- (15) Organize periodic orientation seminars and refresher courses on relevant issues in aviation medicine for AMEs, AME staff, air crew and airline operators
- (16) In charge for designation and renewal of AME. SAME, SPECIALIST, AeMC after reviewing the documents, performance, the facility, equipment personal interview with applicant.
- (17) Monitor and audit Airlines food hygiene control procedures.
- (18) Monitor and Audit Airlines Drugs abuse and alcohol procedures
- (19) Monitor and Audit crew first Aid syllabus and procedures
- (20) Monitor and Audit onboard first aid content.
- (21) Liaise with government and other national and international agencies in Medical Aviation matters and issues concerning aviation industry.
- (22) Advise CAA safety department on health hazards and suggests remedial action.
- (23) Represent CAA on special aviation medical committees and societies whose regulatory power affect airlines operation.
- (24) In coordination with safety department chair emergency preparedness and overall disaster plans committee.
- (b) Issue a conditional medical certificate or suspend medical certificate of a license holder to exercise the privilege of the permit, license, or rating to which the medical certificate relates.

**Note:** However, the AMB has the authority to revise and suspend the medical certificate, if in their opinion such authorization will likely affect the flight safety.

- (c) CAA Review and Evaluation Medical Fitness Assessment
  - (1) The CAA medical examination form completed and signed by Designated AME has to be submitted with all investigation and documents to the CAA for review, evaluation, monitoring, and auditing by MAs, within fifteen days from the date of completion the Examination and investigation required
  - (2) The MAS has authority to assess any medical report submitted pursuant to the CAA standards to determine whether an applicant for the issuance or renewal of medical certificate meets the medical fitness requirements set out in the CAR-FCL 3 requirements.

**Note:** After the review the CAA shall, by personal service or by registered mail send to the AME for the renewal of a medical the outcome of the review and the decision of the Mas.

### (d) Reconsideration of Assessment

Where the CAA delegates the assessment decision, regarding the medical fitness of the applicant for the renewal of a medical certificate that is assessed as not meeting the requirements, the MAS shall:

- (1) Take into consideration any additional information regarding the medical fitness of the applicant.
- (2) Immediately notify the CAA in writing of the result of the reconsideration of the assessment.

### 1.2. Aeromedical Evaluation Board

- (a) The board consists of members appointed by the Medical Assessor (MAs). The board evaluates medical cases, which, due to their complexity or uniqueness, warrant a comprehensive aeromedical evaluation. A Special Board of AME should not be requested merely to challenge a physical standard or disqualification without evidence of special circumstances., The Medical Assessor (MAs) will appoint three AME doctors to act as members of this board. The AME who have been dealing with the case and most involved should be member of the board.
- (b) The CAA will authorize the president to consult with other experts in the medical community to conduct a proper evaluation of the applicant's medical qualification.
- (c) The board members should meet and discuss the details of the case and the findings of the literature review with the objective of reaching an agreement on the conclusion and recommendations.
- (d) It is the responsibility of the treating AME to present all the clinical details and relevant investigations to the board members.
- (e) The pilot involved should attend the Board if deemed relevant.
- (f) The President of the board should compile a final report to the CAA that:
- (g) Presents the details of the clinical problem and the board recommendations.
  - (1) Outlines any investigations done.
  - (2) Includes all reports from external specialists.

- (3) Concludes if the members of the board agreed in reference to the recommendations regarding further investigations, treatment, continued licensing, restrictions in licensing and follow up by the supervising AME. If not in agreements the differences in opinion should be presented in the letter of recommendation.
- (4) Should be signed by the president of the board.
- (5) Copy of the president recommendation letter should be forwarded to the member of the board.
- (h) The Medical Assessor (MAs) will usually make conclusions based on the Medical Evaluation Board recommendation report received from the president. In case where there is a disagreement between the board members, the CAA will hold the final decision and the Medical Assessor (MAs) will issue of Medical certification with special authorization to the chief of Licensing and Aeromedical section. In recommending the Authorization, the Medical Assessor (MAs) specifies the Class of medical certificate authorized to be issued and may do any of the following:
  - (1) Issue a medical certificate with or without limitation/s.
  - (2) Issue an Authorization for Special issuance.
  - (3) Issue SODA.
  - (4) Revoke the certificate.
- (i) Follow up Action
  - (1) All applicants should follow the CAA requirement and/or recommendation for the medical certificate to be valid. The applicant must Refer to CAA endorsement letter to determine how frequently the required information must be submitted. The continuation request must include the applicant 's periodic medical exam, and all required additional information as specified by CAA letter and/or the pertinent section of the Licensing Section.
  - (2) A person who has been granted an Authorization based on a special medical flight or practical test need not take the test again during later physical examinations unless the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) determines or has reason to believe that the physical deficiency has or may have degraded to a degree to require another special medical flight test or practical test.

### 2. Medical Certification

### 2.1. General Requirements

### 2.1.1. Decrease in medical fitness

- (a) License holders shall not exercise the privileges of their license and related ratings or certificates at any time when they:
  - (1) Are aware of any decrease in their medical fitness which might render them unable to safely exercise those privileges;
  - (2) Take or use any prescribed or non-prescribed medication which is likely to interfere with the safe exercise of the privileges of the applicable license;
  - (3) Receive any medical, surgical or other treatment that is likely to interfere with flight safety.
- (b) In addition, license holders shall, without undue delay, seek aero-medical advice when they:
- (c) have undergone a surgical operation or invasive procedure;
- (d) have commenced the regular use of any medication;
- (e) have suffered any significant personal injury involving incapacity to function as a member of the flight crew;
- (f) have been suffering from any significant illness involving incapacity to function as a member of the flight crew;
- (g) are pregnant;
- (h) have been admitted to hospital or medical clinic;
- (i) first require correcting lenses.
- (j) Transient Ischemic Attack
- (k) coronary angiography
- (I) abnormal heart rhythms including atrial fibrillation/flutter.
- (m) any loss of consciousness in these cases:
  - (1) The holders of Class 1 Class 2 and Class 3 medical certificates shall seek the advice of an AeMC or AME. The AeMC or AME shall assess the medical fitness of the license holder and decide whether they are fit to resume the exercise of their privileges;
  - (2) The holders of and Cabin crew medical certificates shall seek the advice of an AeMC or AME who signed the medical certificate. The AeMC, AME shall assess the medical fitness of the license holders and decide whether they are fit to resume the exercise of their privileges.

### 2.1.2. Fraudulent Entries/ Declarations

Prior to undertaking an aeromedical examination, AMEs should be satisfied that the candidate has the appropriate identification and shall inform the applicant about the possible legal consequences of a deliberate false statement made with the intention of obtaining a medical certificate.

Thereafter the AME shall obtain the applicant's signature prior to completion of the applicant statement and examiner certification form and record all relevant historical details obtained from the applicant.

A false declaration on a Medical Report shall be reported to the CAA as this will require further investigation and clarification of previous data recorded against the license held by the applicant. (See Appendix A para 11.2)

### 2.1.3. Medical confidentiality

- (1) It is important that All persons involved in medical examination, assessment and certification shall ensure that medical confidentiality is respected at all times.
- (2) Medical information is of a sensitive nature, and a person who has undergone a medical examination for issuance or renewal of his license has a right to expect that such information is kept confidential and disclosed only to medical officials.
- (3) Establishment a separate medical section is, either within the authority or attached to it, Medical confidentiality is best assured when this medical section, where the reports from the medical examiners are received and evaluated, is headed by a physician and has its own staff,
- (4) All medical reports and records shall be securely held with accessibility restricted to authorized personnel.
- (5) The medical reports including evaluation and sickness report shall be filed by the authority in the electronic format called FLS system which is secured with accessibility restricted to MAS and other authorized personnel, stored for ten (10) years.
- (6) Backup separate hard copy file including medical report, and other medical record will be stored for ten (10) years with limited accessibility to MAS and other Authorized personnel.
- (7) When justified by operational considerations, the Medical Assessor (MAs) shall determine to what extent pertinent medical information is presented to relevant officials of the Licensing Authority, its own channels of communication, its own filing system.

### 2.2. Record Keeping

Designated AME should maintain records with details of medical examinations and assessments performed for the issue, revalidation or renewal of medical certificates and their results, for a minimum period of 10 years after the last examination date; and

- (a) keep all medical records in a way that ensures that medical confidentiality is respected at all times.
- (b) Records shall be stored in a manner that ensures protection from damage, alteration and theft.
- (c) The record-keeping system should ensure that all records are accessible whenever needed within a reasonable time.
- (d) These records should be organized in a way that ensures traceability and available throughout the required retention period.

### 2.3. Release of information

Except in compliance with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction, or upon an applicant's written request, Examiners will not divulge or release copies of any reports prepared in connection with the examination to anyone other than the applicant or the CAA. A copy of the examination may be released to the applicant upon request. Upon receipt of a court subpoena or order, the Examiner shall notify the appropriate PMA. Other requests for information will be referred to:

Medical Assessor (MAs) Civil Aviation Authority Oman – Muscat

### 2.4. Aeromedical Certification System

### 2.4.1. **General**

Flight crew, ATC and cabin crew license are issued to applicants who have met the relevant technical and theoretical standards. A valid medical certificate appropriate for the Class of license must accompany the license for the license holder legally to exercise the privileges of the license.

### 2.4.2. Classes of Medical Assessment

Four Classes of Medical Assessment shall be established as follows;

(a) Class 1 Medical Assessment;

Applies to applicants for and holders of:

- Commercial pilot licenses aeroplane and helicopter.
- Multi-crew pilot licenses aeroplane
- Airline transport pilot licenses aeroplane and helicopter
- (b) Class 2 Medical Assessment;

Applies to applicants for and holders of:

- Private pilot licenses aeroplane and helicopter
- Free balloon pilot licenses
- Student pilot license
- Flight engineer licenses
- (c) Class 3 Medical Assessments;

Applies to applicants for, and holders of:

- Air traffic controller licenses.
- (d) Cabin Crew Medical Assessment

Applies to applicants for and holders of

• Cabin Crew License.

### 2.4.3. Duration of Validity

The Medical assessment issued in accordance with CAA Civil Aviation Regulation - CAR FCL-3.110 shall be valid from the date of the examination for a period not greater than:

License type	Class	Validity
ATPL Under 40	1	12 months
ATPL Over 40	1	12 months
ATPL Over 60	1	06 months
ATPL Over 40 Single crew	1	06 months
CPL Under 40	1	12 months
CPL Over 40	1	12 months
Free balloon pilot license	2	60 months
under 40		
Free balloon pilot license	2	24 months
over 40		
ATCO UNDER 40	3	24 months
ATCO OVER 40	3	12 months
Flight Engineer	2	12 months
Cabin Crew under 40	Cabin crew	60 months
Cabin Crew over 40	Cabin Crew	24 months
Private Pilot under 40	2	60 months
Private Pilot over 40	2	24 months
Private Pilot over 50	2	12 months
Student Pilot	2	24 months

# 2.4.4. As the age of the license holder increases, these validity periods are shortened:

- (a) When the holders of airline transport pilot license airplane, helicopter and powered-lift, and commercial pilot license airplane, airship, helicopter and powered-lift, who are engaged in single-crew commercial air transport operations carrying passengers, have passed their 60<sup>th</sup> birthday, the period of validity shall be reduced to six (6) months.
- (b) When the holders of private pilot license airplane, airship, helicopter and powered-lift, free balloon pilot licenses, glider pilot license have passed their 40<sup>th</sup> birthday, the period of validity shall be reduced to twenty-four (24) months.
- (c) When the holders of private pilot license airplane, airship, helicopter and powered-lift, free balloon pilot licenses, glider pilot license have passed their 50<sup>th</sup> birthday, the period of validity shall be reduced to twelve (12) months.
- (d) When the holders of Air traffic controller have passed their 40<sup>th</sup> birthday, the period of validity shall be reduced to twelve (12) months.

### 2.4.5. Special consideration

- (a) The periods of validity listed above are based on the age of the applicant at the time of undergoing the medical examination.
- (b) Regardless of the validity periods stated above, the CAA Medical Assessor may in an individual case require this period to be shortened.
- (c) The period of validity of a Medical Assessment may be reduced when clinically indicated.
- (d) A medical condition, although compatible with licensing, may be of a nature where frequent medical check-ups are required. In such cases the period of validity of the Medical Assessment may be reduced so as to ensure adequate monitoring of the condition in question.

### 2.4.6. Issue, revalidation and renewal of medical certificates

A medical certificate shall only be issued, revalidated or renewed once the Applicant meet required medical standards and/or assessments including those pertaining to medical history unless otherwise authorized by the CAA.

- (a) After reviewing the medical history and completing the examination, Examiners may:
  - (1) Issue a medical certificate.
  - (2) Defer the action to the CAA Medical Assessor.
  - (3) Deny the application,
- (b) Initial issue:
  - (1) Class 1 medical certificates shall be issued by an AeMC.
  - (2) Class 2, 3 and Cabin Crew medical certificates shall be issued by an AeMC or an AME.
  - (3) Cabin Crew medical certificates shall be issued by an AeMC, an AME.
- (c) Revalidation and renewal:
  - (1) Class 1, Class 2, and Class 3 medical certificates shall be revalidated or renewed by an AeMC or an AME.
  - (2) Cabin crew medical certificates shall be revalidated or renewed by an AeMC, an AME.
- (d) The AeMC or AME Authorized to issue, revalidate or renew a medical certificate if:
  - (1) The applicant has complete medical history and, if he /she provided the AeMC and AME the required, results of medical examinations and investigations done by the applicant's doctor or any medical specialists; and
  - (2) The Applicant has passed the aero-medical assessment conducted by AeMC or AME based on the medical examinations and tests as required for the Class of the medical certificate to verify that the applicant complies with all the relevant requirements of this section.
- (e) The AME, AeMC may require the applicant to undergo additional medical examinations and investigations when clinically indicated before they issue, revalidate or renew a medical certificate.
- (f) In the case of referral, the licensing authority may require the applicant to undergo additional medical examinations and investigations when clinically indicated before they issue, revalidate or renew a medical certificate.
- (g) The licensing authority may issue or re-issue a medical certificate, as applicable, if:

- (1) In referral cases;
- (2) It has identified that corrections to the information on the certificate are necessary.
- (h) The licensing Authority may request further investigation or information within thirty (30) days from the date of receiving the examination sent by the examiner, the examiner and or the applicant has to reply and submit all necessary information and investigation within thirty (30) days

### 2.5. Medical certificates

### 2.5.1. Requirements for medical assessments

- (a) An applicant for, or holder of, a medical certificate issued in accordance with CAR FCL-3 (Medical) shall be free from:
  - (1) any abnormality, congenital or acquired,
  - (2) any active, latent, acute or chronic disability,
  - (3) any wound, injury or sequela from operation, such as could entail a degree of functional incapacity which is likely to interfere with the safe operation of an aircraft or with the safe performance of duties.
- (b) An applicant for, or holder of, a medical certificate issued in accordance with CAR FCL-3 (Medical) shall not suffer from any disease or disability which could render him likely to become suddenly unable either to operate an aircraft safely or to perform assigned duties safely.

### 2.5.2. The following medical conditions are specifically disqualifying.

- (a) Abnormality, either congenital or acquired
- (b) Wound, injury or sequelae from operation;
- (c) Effect or side effect of any prescribed or non-prescribed therapeutic, diagnostic or preventive medication taken.
- (d) Active, latent, acute or chronic disease or disability:
  - (1) Angina pectoris;
  - (2) Bipolar disorder;
  - (3) Cardiac valve replacement
  - (4) Coronary heart disease that has required treatment or, if untreated, that has been symptomatic or clinically significant.
  - (5) Diabetes mellitus requiring insulin or other hypoglycemic medication.
  - (6) Disturbance of consciousness without satisfactory medical explanation of the cause
  - (7) Epilepsy
  - (8) Heart replacement
  - (9) Myocardial infarction
  - (10) Permanent cardiac pacemaker
  - (11) Personality disorder that is severe enough to have repeatedly manifested itself by overt acts
  - (12) Psychosis

- (13) Substance abuse and dependence; and/or
- (14) Transient loss of control of nervous system function(s) without satisfactory medical explanation of cause.

### 2.5.3. Special issuance (SI) a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA)

An airman who is medically disqualified for any reason may be considered by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) for an Authorization for Special Issuance of a Medical Certificate (Authorization). For medical defects, which are static or non-progressive in nature, a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA) may be granted in lieu of an Authorization.

The Examiner always may **defer** the application to the CAA for action. In the interests of the applicant and of a responsive certification system, however, deferral is appropriate only if:

### The standards are not met.

- if there is an unresolved question about the history.
- The findings, the standards, or agency policy; if the examination is incomplete.
- If further evaluation is necessary.
- If directed by the CAA.
- (a) An applicant for a license, in accordance with Annex I (Part-FCL), shall hold a medical certificate issued in accordance with this Annex (Part-MED) and appropriate to the license privileges applied for.
- (b) When exercising the privileges of a:
  - (1) Cabin Crew license shall hold a cabin Crew medical certificate
  - (2) light aircraft pilot license (LAPL), the pilot shall hold at least a valid LAPL medical certificate.
  - (3) Air traffic control shall hold at least a valid Class 3 medical certificate
  - (4) Private pilot license (PPL), a sailplane pilot license (SPL) or a balloon pilot license (BPL), the pilot shall hold at least a valid Class 2 medical certificate.
  - (5) SPL or a BPL involved in commercial sailplane or balloon flights, the pilot shall hold at least a valid Class 2 medical certificate;
  - (6) Commercial pilot license (CPL), a multi-crew pilot license (MPL) or an airline transport pilot license (ATPL), the pilot shall hold a valid Class 1 medical certificate.
- (c) If a night rating is added to a PPL or LAPL, the license holder shall be color safe.
- (d) If an instrument rating or en route instrument rating is added to a PPL, the license holder shall undertake pure tone audiometry examinations in accordance with the periodicity and the standard required for Class 1 medical certificate holders.
- (e) A license holder shall not at any time hold more than one medical certificate issued in accordance with this Annex (Part-MED).

### 2.6. Application for a medical certificate

- (a) Applications for a medical certificate shall be made in a form and manner established by the CAA.
- (b) Applicants for a medical certificate shall provide the AeMC, SAME, and AME, as applicable, with:
  - (1) Proof of their identity;
  - (2) A signed declaration:
    - (i) Of medical facts concerning their medical history;
    - (ii) As to whether they have previously applied for a medical certificate or have undergone an aero-medical examination for a medical certificate and, if so, by whom and with what result;
    - (iii) as to whether they have ever been assessed as unfit or had a medical certificate suspended or revoked.
- (c) When applying for a revalidation or renewal of the medical certificate, applicants shall present the most recent medical certificate to the AeMC, AME or SAME, as applicable, prior to the relevant aero-medical examinations.

### 2.7. Issuance, revalidation and renewal of medical certificates

### (a) Validity

An airman medical certificate is valid only with the original signature of the AME who performed the examination or with the digital signature of an authorized CAA physician.

- (1) An AME may only issue ONE originally signed certificate to an airman. Copies are NOT valid.
- (2) 1<sup>st,</sup> 2<sup>ND</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> Medical Certificate are valid for the remainder of the month of issue; plus
  - (i) Twelve (12) calendar months for operations requiring a first-Class medical certificate if the airman has not reached age forty (40) on or before the date of examination.
  - (ii) Six (6) calendar months for operations requiring a first-Class medical certificate if the airman is age 60 or over on or before the date of the examination, or plus
  - (iii) Twenty-four (24) calendar months for operations requiring a second-Class medical certificate, or plus. Student pilot
  - (iv) Twenty-four (24 calendar months for operations requiring a third-Class medical certificate, age 40 or plus.
  - (v) Twelve (12) calendar months for operations requiring a third-Class medical certificate if the airman has not reached age forty (40) years on or before the date of examination.
  - (vi) Third Class medical certificate required for ATCO.
  - (vii) Cabin Crew medical certificate required for Cabin Crew license.
  - (viii) Sixty (60) calendar months required for Cabin Crew if the c/c has not reached age forty (40) years.
  - (ix) Twenty-four (24) calendar months required for Cabin crew age forty (40) years or plus.

(3) Aero-medical examinations and assessments, as applicable, for the revalidation of a medical certificate may be undertaken up to forty-five (45) days prior to the expiry date of the medical certificate.

### (b) Renewal

- (1) If the holder of a medical certificate does not comply with paragraph (a), a renewal examination and assessment, as applicable, shall be required.
- (2) In the case of Class 1, 2 and 3 medical certificates:
  - (i) if the medical certificate has expired for less than two (2) years, a routine revalidation aero-medical examination shall be performed;
  - (ii) If the medical certificate has expired for more than two (2) years but less than five(5) years, the AeMC or AME shall only conduct the renewal aero-medical examination after assessment of the aero-medical records of the applicant;
  - (iii) If the medical certificate has expired for more than five (5) years, the aero-medical examination requirements for initial issue shall apply and the assessment shall be based on the revalidation requirements.
- (3) In the case of Cabin Crew medical certificates, the AeMC, AME shall assess the medical history of the applicant and perform the aero-medical examinations and assessments, as applicable, in accordance with CAA medical guidance.

### 2.8. Suspension or revocation of medical certificates

- (a) A medical certificate may be suspended or revoked by CAA.
- (b) Upon suspension of the medical certificate, the holder shall return the medical certificate to the licensing authority on request of that authority.
- (c) Upon revocation of the medical certificate, the holder shall immediately return the medical certificate to the licensing authority.

### 2.9. Referral

If an applicant for a Class 1, 2, 3 and Cabin Crew medical certificate is referred to the Medical Assessor of the licensing authority, or to the Director Flight Safety Department in accordance with CAR FCL-3, the AeMC or AME shall transfer the relevant medical documentation to the licensing authority.

### 2.9.1. Referral to the Licensing Authority

When an applicant who does not meet the established medical standards, the AeMC, or aero-medical examiner (AME) has referred the decision on the fitness of an applicant to the licensing authority:

- (a) The CAA Medical Assessor evaluate the relevant medical documentation and request further medical documentation, examinations and tests where necessary; and
- (b) The Medical Assessor shall determine the applicant's fitness by issuing either Special issuance authority, SODA with one or more limitation(s) as necessary, or denial of the certificate.
- (c) The licensing authority (CAA) should supply the AeMC or AME with all necessary information that led to the decision on aero-medical fitness.

(d) The licensing authority should ensure that unusual or borderline cases are evaluated on a common basis.

### 2.9.2. Flexibility

The provision of a degree of flexibility must not lead to a situation where its use becomes the rule rather than the exception. It has been worded to make it clear that flexibility may be exercised only in the exceptional case. Failure to observe this requirement could result in routine approval of individuals not meeting specific medical requirements, such as visual standards, thus creating an abuse of the primary object of flexibility. When decisions to exercise flexibility are backed by an accredited medical conclusion it indicates that these decisions have not been regarded as a routine measure but that they have been taken following close examination and assessment of all the medical facts and their relationship to personal performance.

- (a) Special issuance (SI)
  - (1) If the applicant does not fully comply with the requirements for the relevant Class of medical certificate but is considered to be not likely to jeopardize the safe exercise of the privileges of the applicable license, the AeMC or AME shall, refer the decision on fitness of the applicant to the Medical Assessor of the licensing authority,
  - (2) At his/her discretion CAA Medical Assessor may grant an Authorization for Special Issuance of a Medical Certificate (Authorization), with a specified validity period, and specific limitation to the applicant certificate.
  - (3) CAA Medical Assessor may authorize a special medical flight test, practical test, or request for medical evaluation board for this purpose.
  - (4) An airman medical certificate issued under the provisions of an Authorization expires no later than the Authorization expiration date or upon its withdrawal.
  - (5) An airman must again show to the satisfaction of CAA Medical Assessor that the duties authorized by the Class of medical certificate applied for can be performed without endangering flying and public safety in order to obtain a new airman medical certificate/Authorization
  - (6) Relevant ability, skill and experience of the applicant and operational conditions have been given due consideration.
  - (7) The applicant license is endorsed with any special limitation or limitations when the safe performance of the license holder's duties is dependent on compliance with such limitation or limitations.
- (b) In granting an Authorization, the CAA Medical Assessor may consider the person's operational experience and any medical facts that may affect the ability of the person to perform airman duties including:
  - (1) The factors leading to and surrounding the episode
  - (2) The combined effect on the person of failing to meet one or more than one requirement of CAA medical Guidance
  - (3) The prognosis derived from professional consideration of all available information regarding the person.

### Process of the issue

- (1) When the applicant's ability to meet the medical standards as prescribed in this guidance, has not been clearly demonstrated (complicated cases), or where there has been a change to the existing physical condition of the candidate, the AME should not issue a medical certificate immediately.
- (2) The AME may:
  - (i) Deny the certification and defer the case to the CAA for decision along with the supporting documents, or
  - (ii) Recommend to convene Aeromedical Evaluation Board
  - (iii) Arrange for extended medical evaluation which may be consultation with specialist and any testing or investigation to prepare the Aeromedical summary (AME) for the applicant. This extended initial examination provides an expedient way to return a grounded aviator to flight status pending official CAA endorsement and granting of a Medical certificate by Licensing & Aeromedical Section. The AME must use the service -whenever applicable-of locally CAA recognized or designated specialists.
- (3) The AME then will prepare the request to the CAA Licensing & Aeromedical section, with the following items:
  - (i) Complete medical application form.
  - (ii) A detailed history, review of systems, and physical findings associated with the defect must be recorded on the physical exam
  - (iii) All supporting documentation required by the appropriate Aeromedical section of the Licensing Section (i.e. laboratory, radiology, consultant reports...)
  - (iv) AME's recommended disposition
  - (v) applicant's most recent flight Assessment check if applicable
  - (vi) All information required for continuation of previous waivers/deviations whenever applicable.
- (c) AME Assisted Special Issuance (AASI).
  - (1) AME Assisted Special Issuance (AASI) is a process that provides Examiners the ability to reissue an airman medical certificate under the provisions of an Authorization to an applicant who has a medical condition that is disqualifying.
  - (2) Examiners may re-issue an airman medical certificate under the provisions of an Authorization, if the applicant provides the requisite medical information required for determination. Examiners may not issue initial Authorizations. An Examiner's decision or determination is subject to review by the CAA.
  - (3) Following the granting of an Authorization for Special Issuance of a Medical Certificate (Authorization) by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs), an Examiner may reissue a medical certificate to an applicant with a medical history of an initially disqualifying condition once the AASI's specialized criteria is met and the applicant is otherwise qualified.
  - (4) The CAA Medical Assessor (MAs)(Advisor) will send AASI's along with authorization letter to be strictly adhere by the medical examiner, indicating nature of limitation if exist.
  - (5) An Authorization granted to a person who does not meet the applicable medical standards medical guidance may be withdrawn, at the discretion of the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs), at any time if:
    - (i) There is an adverse change in the holder's medical condition;

- (ii) The holder fails to comply with a statement of functional limitations or operational limitations issued as a condition of certification under the special issuance.
- (iii) Flying and Public safety would be endangered by the holder's exercise of airman privileges;
- (iv) The holder fails to provide medical information reasonably needed by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) for certification under the special issuance.
- (v) The holder makes or causes to be made a statement or entry that is the basis for withdrawal of an Authorization under the falsification.
- (d) If an Authorization is withdrawn at any time, the following procedures apply:
  - (1) The holder of the Authorization will be served a letter of denial, stating the reason for the action;
  - (2) Within sixty (60) days after the issuing of the letter of denial, the holder of the Authorization may request, in writing, that the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) requesting for review of the decision to withdraw. The request for review may be accompanied by supporting medical evidence;
  - (3) Within sixty (60) days of receipt of a request for review, a written final decision either affirming or reversing the decision to withdraw will be issued; and
  - (4) A medical certificate rendered invalid pursuant to a withdrawal, in accordance with the special issuance section shall be surrendered to the Administrator upon request.
  - (5) A medical certificate rendered invalid pursuant to a withdrawal, in accordance with the special issuance section shall be surrendered to the Administrator upon request.
- (e) Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA)
  - (1) At the discretion of the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs), a Statement of Demonstrated Ability (SODA) may be granted, instead of an Authorization, to a person whose disqualifying condition is static or non-progressive and who has been found capable of performing airman duties without endangering public and flying safety. A SODA does not expire and authorizes a designated Examiner to issue a medical certificate of a specified Class if the Examiner finds that the condition described on the SODA has not adversely changed.
  - (2) In granting a SODA, the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) may consider the person's operational experience and any medical facts that may affect the ability of the person to perform airman duties including:
    - (i) The combined effect on the person of failure to meet more than one requirement.
    - (ii) The prognosis derived from professional consideration of all available information regarding the person.
  - (3) In granting a SODA under the special issuance section, the CAA specifies the Class of medical certificate authorized to be issued and may do any of the following:
    - (i) State on the SODA, and on any medical certificate based upon it, any operational limitation needed for safety; or,
    - (ii) Condition the continued effect of a SODA, and any second- or third-Class medical certificate based upon it, on compliance with a statement of functional limitations issued to the person in coordination with the Director of Flight Safety department.
    - (iii) In determining whether a SODA should be granted to an applicant for a second -Class medical certificate, the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) considers the freedom of an airman, exercising the privileges of a private pilot certificate, to accept reasonable

risks to his or her person and property that are not acceptable in the exercise of commercial or airline transport pilot privileges, and, at the same time, considers the need to protect the safety of persons and property in other aircraft and on the ground.

- (4) A SODA granted to a person who does not meet the applicable standards may be withdrawn, at the discretion of the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs)(Advisor), at any time if:
  - There is adverse change in the holder's medical condition;
  - The holder fails to comply with a statement of functional limitations or operational limitations issued under the special issuance section.
  - Public safety would be endangered by the holder's exercise of airman privileges;
  - The holder fails to provide medical information reasonably needed by the CAA Medical Assessor for certification under the special issuance section.
  - The holder makes or causes to be made a statement or entry that is the basis for withdrawal of a SODA under the falsification.
  - A person who has been granted a SODA under the special issuance section, based on a special medical flight or practical test need not take the test again during later medical examinations unless the CAA determines or has reason to believe that the physical deficiency has or may have degraded to a degree to require another special medical flight test or practical test.

### If a SODA is withdrawn at any time, the following procedures apply:

- The holder of the SODA will be served a letter of withdrawal stating the reason for the action;
- By not later than 60 days after the service of the letter of withdrawal, the holder of the SODA may request, in writing, that CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) provide for review of the decision to withdraw. The request for review may be accompanied by supporting medical evidence;
- Within sixty (60) days of receipt of a request for review, a written final decision either affirming or reversing the decision to withdraw will be issued; and
- A medical certificate rendered invalid pursuant to a withdrawal, in accordance with the special issuance section shall be surrendered to the Administrator upon request.
- (f) Denial of certificate
  - (1) Within sixty (60) days after a final CAA denial of an unrestricted airman medical certificate, an airman may petition the CAA Aeromedical Board for a review of that denial. The Aeromedical Board does not have jurisdiction to review the denial of a SODA or special issuance airman medical certificate.
  - (2) A petition for Aeromedical Board review must be submitted in writing to:

CAA SAFETY DEPARTMENT Aeromedical Board Oman-Muscat

### 2.9.3. Procedure for the evaluation of Aeromedical examination reports by CAA.

For the purpose to monitor the criteria of medical certification, CAA Aeromedical unit has implemented an Evaluation System as a mandatory procedure has to be followed by all AeMC, AME, SAME as follow:

- (a) All Aeromedical examination issues related to issuance, renewal, referral, or denial of an airman certificate has to be submitted to CAA MAS within fifteen (15) days from the date of examination for the purposes of Review, Evaluation, Monitoring and Auditing.
- (b) All AME must submit Hard copies of a completed and signed CAA medical Examination form with all documents and investigations required for the completion of the medical certification process as per the standards cited in the Aeromedical guidance manual within fifteen (15) days from the date of Examination, to the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
- (c) The MAs shall do the evaluation using an electronic evaluation form.
- (d) The medical reports including evaluation and sickness report shall be filed by the authority in the electronic format called FLS system which is secured with accessibility restricted to MAs and other authorized personnel, stored for 10 years.
- (e) Backup separate hard copy file including medical report, and other medical record will be stored for ten (10) years with limited accessibility to MAs and other Authorized personnel
- (f) The outcome of the evaluation will be relayed to the concerned AME to respond accordingly.
- (g) The MAs has authority to assess any medical report submitted pursuant to the CAA standards to determine whether an applicant for the issuance or renewal of medical certificate meets the medical fitness requirements set out in the CAR FCL-3 requirements for the issuance or renewal of the medical certificate. (See Appendix A – Medical Forms)
- (h) The MAs has the rights to request further investigations or addition information pertaining to the matter in question and based on the submitted evidence the final decision of issuance will be granted, or refer the matter for further evaluation through the Aeromedical Evaluation Board.
- (i) The MAs shall be responsible for the granting of implementation of limitations or the removal thereof of those limitations based on the recommendations and evaluations of the medical assessment and any other documents and investigation reports submitted by the AME.

### 2.9.4. Aeromedical filing system (FLS)

All medical examination reports, aeromedical examination review and monitoring, sickness reports and any other medical documents related to the medical certification of the airman to privilege his /her flying license has to be filled and secured in the electronic aeromedical system (FLS) supported by separate hard copy secured by strict confidential system access only by authorized personnel.

### 2.9.5. Submission of Applications and Medical Examinations.

All completed applications and medical examinations form, unless otherwise directed by the CAA, must be transmitted electronically or hard copy to the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) within fifteen (15) days after completion with copy of medical certificate issued to the applicant for the purpose of monitoring, review and evaluation of the report submitted by the AME.

A record of the examination is stored in CAA Licensing Section, however, Examiners are encouraged to print a copy for their own files. While not required, the Examiner may also print a summary sheet for the applicant.

### 2.9.6. Protection and Destruction of Forms.

Forms are available in CAA Safety department. Examiners are accountable for all blank CAA forms they may have printed and are cautioned to provide adequate security for such forms or certificates

to ensure that they do not become available for illegal use. Examiners are responsible for destroying any existing paper forms they may still have.

**NOTE:** Forms should not be shared with other Examiners.

#### 2.9.7. License Holder Rights and Responsibilities

As the candidates applying for the CAA medical certificate have certain responsibilities they also have certain rights. Every candidate for medical examination should be aware of all these rights before being subjected to a medical examination or a board. In all clinics designated for Aeromedical examination a copy of this information regarding the rights of the applicants should be present on the patient notice board in clear view. A copy of this information should also be readily available in the files of the AMEs to be presented to the candidates if they ask for this information.

- (a) Pilots Rights Concerning Their Medical Status
  - (1) You have the right to expect that the AME will examine you to the best of his ability and based on CAA Regulations and requirements. The AME must be up to date of Medical knowledge and any changes in the regulations and be able to advise you about the best option for you and discuss each procedure in details and discuss the effectiveness of any medications and possible implications on health and flight safety.
  - (2) You have the right to expect that good management techniques will be implemented within the clinic considering effective use of your time and to avoid your personal discomfort.
  - (3) The candidates have the right to be examined by any of the CAA designated Aeromedical examiners at any of the designated clinics.
  - (4) If a candidate is not satisfied with the decision given by an AME they have the right to apply to the CAA. The CAA after careful assessment of their case will give the decision and if found necessary might send the candidate to be examined by another AME. The expenses in such a case will be borne by the candidate.
  - (5) If a candidate is not satisfied with the test results of one laboratory they have the right to ask the AME to get the same test repeated. The expenses for such repeat testing will be borne by the candidate and the results of both or all tests have to be submitted to the CAA.
  - (6) If a candidate is not satisfied regarding their fitness concluded by an AME or the limitations imposed on him during the course of a routine medical or through a board they have the right to discuss this with the AME and ask for an explanation. If they are not satisfied they have the right to petition to the CAA.
  - (7) The limitations imposed on the Medical Certificate of an individual are to be lifted at the earliest possible time once there is no need for the limitation. Since a limitation can only be removed by the CAA it is mandatory for the AME to request the CAA to remove the limitation once it is no more required. If the AME fails to do it and it is noticed by the candidate, they have the right to ask the AME to request the CAA for the removal of the limitation. In case of the AME not complying the candidate has the right to directly apply to the CAA to look into the matter.
  - (8) You have the right to expect that treatment records are confidential. Your records are only disclosed as required by law and CAA. When the clinic releases records to others, it emphasizes that the records are confidential.

- (9) You have the right to privacy. The clinic staff and others caring for you will protect your privacy as much as possible.
- (10) You have the right to express a complaint concerning your CAA Medical and receive a response without your care being compromised. Any complaints must be forwarded to the CAA Customers unit.
- (b) Pilots Responsibilities Concerning their Medical Status
  - (1) To treat the AME with courtesy and respect.
  - (2) To present accurate identifying information.
  - (3) To inform the Clinic of any changes to name, address, telephone number or e-mail address. It is essential that we are able to contact you in case of an emergency.
  - (4) To present details of illness or complaint in a direct and straight forward manner including information about your health, including past illnesses, hospital stays, and the use of medicine.
  - (5) To keep renewal of CAA Medical Certificate on time.
  - (6) To comply with the any recommendations for regular follow up and blood tests provided by the AME.
  - (7) To ask questions when you do not understand questions in CAA form.
  - (8) Responsible for recognizing the effect of life-style on his personal health. Pilot health depends not just on the clinic care, but in the long term, on the decisions he make in his daily life.
  - (9) Has to complete his medical examination with first AME who initiate the examination, otherwise in case of any urgent, unpredictable situation or any unsatisfied issues, the AME and/or the applicant has to inform the CAA in writing with full justification
  - (10) You must not perform duties on an airplane while under the influence of any drug that may affect flight safety.
  - (11) you must not Consume alcohol less than twelve (12) hours prior to the specified reporting time for flight duty or the commencement of standby; and not to Consume alcohol during the flight duty period or whilst on standby.
  - (12) License holders or student pilots must not exercise the privileges of their license, rating or authorization at any time when they are aware of any decrease in their medical fitness. Which might render them unable to safely exercise those privileges and they must seek the advice of the CAA or an AME when becoming aware of:
    - (i) Surgical operation or invasive procedure
    - (ii) All procedures requiring the use of a general or spinal anesthetic (no flying for at least 48 hours)
    - (iii) All procedures requiring local or regional anesthetic e.g. a visit to dentist requiring an injection (no flying for at least twelve (12) hours)
    - (iv) The regular use of medication
    - (v) The need to regularly use correcting lenses has to check with the AME to implement the limitation.
    - (vi) Hospital or clinic admission for more than twelve (12) hours

#### **Aeromedical Guidance Manual**

**Rev: 06** 

#### 2.9.8. Holders of medical certificates who are aware of:

- (a) Any significant personal injury involving incapacity to function as a member of a flight crew or
- (b) Any illness involving incapacity to function as a member of a flight crew throughout a period of twenty (20) days or more; or
- (c) Being pregnant, shall inform the CAA in writing of such injury or pregnancy, and as soon as the period of twenty-one (21) days has elapsed in the case of illness. The medical certificate shall be deemed to be suspended upon the occurrence of such injury or the elapse of such period of illness or the confirmation of the pregnancy.

Rev: 06

**INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK** 

# 3. Designation Aviation Medical Examiner and Senior AME (SAME).

Medical examiners shall have practical knowledge and experience of the conditions in which the holders of licenses and ratings carry out their duties.

**NOTE:** Examples of practical knowledge and experience are flight experience, simulator experience, on-site observation or any other hands-on experience deemed by the Licensing Authority to meet this requirement

**RECOMMENDATION**: The competence of a medical examiner should be evaluated periodically by the medical assessor.

# 3.1. Scope of Designated AME and SAME

- (1) Issue, revalidate, revoke or renew Class, 1, 2, 3 and Cabin Crew medical certificates and to conduct the relevant medical examinations and assessments.
- (2) Issue or denial of the CAA medical certificates in accordance with CAR-FCL3 subject to evaluation and reconsideration by the CAA.
- (3) Issue or denial of a Combined Medical/Student Pilot Certificates subject to evaluation and reconsideration by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
- (4) Defer a medical certification decision to the CAA when the AME does not have sufficient information, or is unsure of whether he/she should issue a medical certificate, deferral is recommended by CAA regulations.

# 3.2. Qualifications and Training Required for Initial Designation of an AME

- (1) They have successfully completed a basic training course in aviation medicine, including practical training in the examination methods and aero-medical assessments;
- (2) Medical examiners shall have practical knowledge and experience of the conditions in which the holders of licenses and ratings carry out their duties.
- (3) They have demonstrated to the CAA that they:
  - (a) have adequate facilities, equipment, procedures, documentation and functioning equipment suitable for aero-medical examinations;
  - (b) have in place the necessary procedures and conditions to ensure medical confidentiality.
- (4) The basic training course for AMEs should consist of sixty (60) hours theoretical and practical training, including specific examination techniques. The advanced training course required for SAMEs designation should consist of another sixty (60) hours of theoretical and practical training, including specific written examination techniques.
- (5) Examples of practical knowledge and experience should cover at least the following subjects:
  - (a) Introduction to aviation medicine
  - (b) Physics of atmosphere and space;
  - (c) Basic aeronautical knowledge
  - (d) Aviation physiology; including demonstration and practical;
  - (e) Ophthalmology, including demonstration and practical
  - (f) Otorhinolaryngology, including demonstration and practical;
  - (g) Cardiology and general medicine; including demonstration and practical;
  - (h) Neurology; including demonstration and practical;
  - (i) Psychiatry in aviation medicine; including demonstration and practical;

- (j) Psychology;
- (k) Dentistry;
- (I) Accidents, escape and survival
- (m) Legislation, rules and regulations;
- (n) Air evacuation, including demonstration and practical;
- (o) Medication and flying
- (p) Pilot working environment;
- (q) Human factors in aviation, including demonstration and practical;
- (r) Tropical medicine;
- (s) Hygiene, including demonstration and practical;
- (t) Space medicine.
- (6) The above should include flight experience, simulator experience, on-site observation or any other hands-on experience deemed by the Licensing Authority to meet this requirement.
- (7) After completion the Aviation medical course and the process of designation practical training in an AeMC should be under the guidance and supervision of the head of the AeMC.
- (8) After the successful completion of the practical training, a report of successful competency should be issued

# 3.3. Request for designation as an AME.

- (a) Applicant who are practicing medicine as general practice, or specialist in sultanate of Oman wishes to be authorized by CAA as an AME shall apply in writing to Director of safety department requesting to be licensed as a CAA designated AME.
- (b) The CAA Safety Department will send an AME application designation form to the candidate along with a list of required equipment within fifteen (15) working days.
- (c) The applicant should fill the formal application form and return it to CAA Safety Department, along with all the necessary supporting documents.
- (d) After receiving and reviewing the document CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) will set up a date with applicant for facility survey and formal interview.
- (e) Provided that the document, the survey and the interview are satisfactory, a designation letter will be sent to the applicant after he/she make all necessary payment.

#### 3.3.1. The Designation Letter will be sent to the physician along with following:

- (a) Certificate of approval from CAA.
- (b) Aeromedical Examiner Designation Card including a specific number assigned for the AME.
- (c) AME stamp and the official CAA forms, or (one-time password and user name when online E-medical available).
- (d) CAA aeromedical guidance will be available on line (Pdf format)

- (e) AME Designation cards shall expire two (2) years after the date issued. Facility approval shall expire one (1) year after the date issued. The Medical Assessor (MAs) should arrange for a training for the designated examiner on the use of E-Medical system.
- (f) The steps for designation an overseas AME will be the same as mentioned above, with requirement to make all the necessary arrangements for the CAA official conducting the survey.
- (g) In case the AME leave the business or his service is terminated his/her number will be blocked and cannot be used by other AME. Each stamp is intended for the exclusive use of the individual examiner to whom it is issued and must not be used by any other practitioner.
- (h) In case of lost stamp or Designated AME Card, the AME is responsible to inform the CAA immediately.

Note: The above will be applied for AME, SAME, and, AeMC.

# 3.4. Renewal AME Designation

- (a) The AME designation will spontaneously renewed if the following is satisfactory:
  - (1) The AME shall apply in written to the CAA safety department and Medical Assessor (MAs) one month before expiration along with renewal fee.
  - (2) Continuous Training in aviation medicine as the following:
    - (i) During the period of authorization, an AME should attend fifteen (15) hours of continuous medical education with at least five (5) hours/annually related to aviation medicine.
    - (ii) A proportionate number of refresher training hours should be provided by, or conducted under the direct supervision of the CAA or the Medical Assessor (MAs).
    - (iii) Attendance at scientific meetings, congresses and flight deck experience may be approved by the CAA for a specified number of hours against the training obligations of the AME.
  - (3) The applicant done the required number of airman examination per Class.
  - (4) The performance was satisfactory during last designation as per the report of CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) based on AME record,
  - (5) In case the performance report is unsatisfactory Formal interview with the Medical Assessor (MAs) or exam may be required for some AMEs who meets designation criteria.
  - (6) Alter of regret will be sent to the Applicant for renewal along the required fee if he/she were disqualified within fifteen (15) days.
  - (7) Physicians who continue to work as CAA AME with expired designation will be subjected to penalties, which may vary from warning letter to termination the designation.

#### (b) Equipment Requirements

CAA REQUIERD the AME prior to practice his/her designation, shall have adequate and decent facilities for performing the required medical examinations and assessment, and shall be equipped with medico-technical facilities adequate to perform aero-medical examinations necessary for the exercise of the privileges, Examiners shall notify at the time of designation, re-designation, or upon request from the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) that they possess and maintain the required equipment.

- (1) The facility shall be approved by the Ministry of health.
- (2) Each facility should have at least one AME designated by CAA available.

- (3) Standard Snellen Test Types for visual acuity (both near and distant) and appropriate eye lane.
- (4) external eye, anatomy, media and fundoscopy.
- (5) Color Vision Test Apparatus. Ishihara, twenty-four (24) plate editions.
- (6) Visual fields;
- (7) Refraction; and
- (8) Heterophoria.
- (9) 12-lead resting ECG, All Examiners must have access to digital electrocardiographic equipment with electronic transmission capability.
- (10) Pure-tone audiometer, All Examiners must have access to audiometric equipment or a capability of referring applicants to other medical facilities for audiometric testing
- (11) Otoscopy.
- (12) Rhinoscopy.
- (13) Tympanometry or equivalent.
- (14) Clinical assessment of vestibular system.
- (15) Spirometry. Pulmonary function test machine (Spirometry) and Peak expiratory flow rate, these machine should be an available within all the facilities.
- (16) Laboratory facility which should be available within the facility include those for routine aviation medicals namely blood and urine tests. Other required tests to be done in the clinic laboratory by a trained technician or if not available, at another laboratory within a reasonable driving distance from the main facility.
- (17) X-Ray facilities and Drug screening facilities must either be available on premises or within a reasonable driving distance from the main facility.
- (18) A suitable computer, document scanner, modem and software package for communication with CAA as the process of e-medical will be established for data transfer to the CAA in the coming year.

#### (c) "Alternate" Examiners Designated

- (1) The airman medical assessment and examination has to be conducted, completed, and signed by the assigned medical examiners at their designated address only, and it's not permitted for other AMEs to handover or replace the assigned AME for completion the Examination and certification process.
- (2) Whenever an applicant is requested by an AME for further investigation or requirements to be submitted, the applicant shall not change the examiner unless authorized to do so by the CAA. In such conditions, the applicant is required to submit a written justification to the Authority for granting approval to change the examiner.
- (3) The AME shall send to the CAA within fifteen days a list of all applicants who attended their clinic for the examination for medical certification and did not complete the process.
- (4) An Examiner is not permitted to conduct examinations at a temporary address and is not permitted to name an alternate approved Examiner.
- (5) During an Examiner's absence from the permanent office, applicants for airman medical certification shall be referred by the CAA to another approved Examiner in the area.
- (d) Falsification and Negligence

- (1) Cases of falsification is illegal act. This is true whether the false statement is made by the applicant, the Examiner, or both. In view of the pressures sometimes placed on the Examiners by their regular patients to ignore a disqualifying physical defect that the physician knows to exist. It is important that all Examiners be aware of possible consequences of such conduct.
- (2) Any negligence or wrongful certification, which would permit medically unfit pilot or ATCO to take the controls of an aircraft, might create a serious safety hazard for the public, for the Government, and for the Examiner. If the examination is fast and the Examiner fails to find a disqualifying medical illness that should have been discovered during a thorough and careful examination, the Examiner may bear the responsibility for the consequences of such action.

## (e) Consequences of Falsification and Negligence

The case of Falsification and/or Negligence is an illegal act which might Create flying safety hazard and serious effect for public, such an act requires CAA Safety Department to conduct an immediate thorough investigation and take one of the following actions:

- 1. Draft a letter of attention
- 2. Issue a Warning letter
- 3. Temporary suspension the flying license
- 4. Revoke the flying license
- 5. Temporary suspension of AME Designation
- 6. Permanent Termination of AME Designation

# 3.5. Responsibilities of Designated Aviation Medical Examiner (AME).

- (a) Hundreds of applications for Pilots, student pilots, Cabin Crew, and ATCO medical certification are received by CAA safety department and processed each year.
- (b) The medical examinations conducted and performed by physicians in private practice who have been designated to represent the CAA for this purpose, has to send complete and signed CAA medical examination form with all documents and investigation to Aeromedical Licensing Inspector for further review and monitoring within fifteen days from the issuance of medical certificate
- (c) An Examiner is a designated representative of the CAA Administrator with important duties and responsibilities. It is essential that Examiners recognize the responsibility associated with their appointment.
- (d) When the pilot, Student pilot, cabin Crew, and ATCO may not have an established treating physician and the Examiner may choose to fulfill this role. He must consider his responsibility in his capacity as an Examiner as well as the potential conflicts that may arise when performing in this dual duty.
- (e) Any negligence or wrongful certification, which would permit medically unfit pilot or ATCO to take the controls of an aircraft, might create a safety hazard and serious for the public, for the Government, and for the Examiner. If the examination is fast and the Examiner fails to find a disqualifying medical illness that should have been discovered by a thorough and careful examination, the Examiner may bear the responsibility for the consequences of such action.
- (f) If the examiner intentionally ignores to report a disqualifying medical illness either observed during the examination process or otherwise known to exist. In this case, both the

# Airman/ATCO and the Examiner issuing the medical certificate may be found to have committed a violation of the law.

- (g) Cases of falsification is an illegal act. This is true whether the false statement is made by the applicant, the Examiner, or both. In view of the pressures sometimes placed on Examiners by their regular patients to ignore a disqualifying physical defect that the physician knows to exist, it is important that all Examiners be aware of possible consequences for such conduct.
- (h) Not to Perform self-examinations for issuance of a medical certificate to themselves or to an immediate family member.
- (i) Not to edit their own medical status reports. Reports regarding the medical status of an airman should be generated by their treating physician. A report completed by an airman will NOT be accepted, even if that airman is a physician.

# 3.6. Privileges of Aeromedical examiner (AME)

- (a) The Duty of the designated aero-medical examiner (AME) are to examine initial applicant for and holder of, airman medical certificate to determine whether or not they meet the CAA medical standards for Class 2, and 3, and LAPL.
- (b) Issue, revalidate, defer, or deny airman medical certificates Class 1, 2, and 3 to holders of such certificates whether or not they meet the CAA medical standards.
- (c) Issue, revalidate, defer, or deny airman medical certificates Class 2, and 3 to applicant or holders of such certificates whether or not they meet the CAA medical standards.
- (d) A medical certificate issued by an Examiner is considered to be affirmed as issued unless, within sixty (60) days after date of issuance (date of examination), it is reversed by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs). However, if the CAA requests additional information from the applicant within sixty (60) days after the issuance, the above-named officials have sixty (60) days after receipt of the additional information to reverse the issuance.

## 3.7. Requirements for the AME to extend privileges to act as an SAME.

- (a) Conducted at least forty (40) examinations for the issue, revalidation or renewal of Class 2, and 3, medical certificates or equivalent over a period of no more than one (1) year prior to submission of the application;
- (b) Successfully completed an advanced training course in aviation medicine, including practical training in the examination methods and aero-medical assessments;
- (c) Have successfully completed practical training of a duration of at least five (5) days, by head of an AeMC or SAME under the supervision of the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
- (d) During the period of authorization, an AME should attend six (6) hours/annually of continuous medical education approved by CAA Medical Assessor (Mas).

#### 3.7.1. Designation of a Senior Aeromedical Examiners (SAME) certificate

- (a) Applicants for a SAME certificate with the privileges for the initial issue, revalidation and renewal of Class 1 medical certificates shall:
  - (1) Fully qualified and licensed for the practice of medicine and hold a Certificate of Completion of specialist training related to aviation medicine;
  - (2) Have a Diploma in Aviation medicine/or equivalent;
  - (3) Five years' experience in aviation medicine.
  - (4) Two years' experience as CAA designated Examiner for Class 1 medical certificate.
- (b) Demonstrate to the CAA that they
  - (1) Have adequate facilities, procedures, documentation and functioning equipment suitable for aero-medical examinations; and
  - (2) Have in place the necessary procedures and conditions to ensure medical confidentiality.
  - (3) Have adequate knowledge and skills necessary for examination and assessment for Class 1.
  - (4) Acceptable level of competency in assessment and examination for Class 1 medical certificate.

#### 3.7.2. Privileges of Senior Aeromedical examiner (SAME)

- (a) The Duty of the designated senior aero-medical examiner (SAME) are to examine initial applicant for and holder of, airman medical certificate to determine whether or not they meet the CAA medical standards for Class 1, Class 2, and Class 3, and for over age of 60 certificate.
- (b) Issue, revalidate, defer, or deny airman medical certificates to initial applicant for or holders of such certificates whether or not they meet the CAA medical standards.

## 3.8. Advance course in Aviation Medicine include the following:

- > Pilot working environment
- Aerospace physiology
- Cardiovascular system
- Neurology
- Psychiatry/psychology
- Visual system and color vision
- Otorhinolaryngology
- Dentistry
- Human factors in aviation, including 8 hours' demonstration and practical experience
- > Tropical medicine
- > Final examination
- De-briefing and critique.

# 3.9. Continuous training in aviation medicine.

- (a) During the period of authorization, an AME should attend fifteen (15) hours of continuous medical education with at least five (5) hours/annually related to aviation medicine.
- (b) A proportionate number of refresher training hours should be provided by, or conducted under the direct supervision of the CAA or the Medical Assessor (MAs).
- (c) Attendance at scientific meetings, congresses and flight deck experience may be approved by the CAA for a specified number of hours against the training obligations of the AME.

#### 3.9.1. Scientific meetings that should be accredited by the CAA are:

- (a) International Academy of Aviation and Space Medicine Annual Congresses;
- (b) Aerospace Medical Association Annual Scientific Meetings; and
- (c) Other scientific meetings, as organized or approved by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
- (d) Other refresher training approved by the CAA may consist of:
  - (1) flight deck experience;
  - (2) jump seat experience;
  - (3) simulator experience; and
  - (4) aircraft piloting.

# 3.10. Designation medical specialist.

- (a) Reference to the international practice in Aviation Industry, CAA shall designate two Medical physician specialized in different branches of medical science who holding unrestricted license to practice medicine in the geographical area in which the designation is sought, issued by Health Authority of the area that he/she practice his business to evaluate the fitness of an Airman who suffer from acute or chronic illness in coordination between the Medical Assessor (MAs) and AME.
- (b) The specialist must attend a course in Aviation medicine before the approval of his/her designation.
- (c) Upon the discretion of the DFS a Limited period of exception not exceeding six months to allow the approved specialist to practice his/her designation before the attendance an aviation medicine course subject to be under direct supervision of CAA Medical Assessor.
- (d) The specialist must practice his profession in an established clinic, hospital, or Medical center.
- (e) The Medical Assessor (MAs) must evaluate all documents, conduct an interview, and survey the office, hospital, Medical center, and his/her past professional performance and personal conduct.
- (f) Provide the above requirement are satisfactory A letter of designation along with CAA designation certificate and ID with specific number, and CAA stamp shall be delivered to his/her office within two weeks after pay the requested fee.
- (g) The designation shall be satisfactory for a position of responsibility and trust.
- (h) The designation expires two (2) years after the date issued and will only be renewed if the specialist is up to date with the CME requirements of a designated aero-medical examiner and the performance was satisfactory during last designation as per the report of CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) based on his/her record.

#### 3.10.1. Privilege of Approved Specialist.

- (a) Airman physical examination must be done by the specialist personally in accordance the best practices.
  - (1) Thorough Investigation the medical case, and if appropriate treat the pilots with problems.
  - (2) Recommend the issuance or denial of the CAA medical certificates in accordance with the current medical guidance subject to reconsideration by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) based on the recommendation of the review committee assigned by the PAC Medical Assessor (MAs) if necessary.
  - (3) If the Specialist does not have sufficient information, or is unsure of whether he/she should recommend the issue of a medical certificate, he/she may refer the case to another Specialist in the same field, but final report must be submitted through the approved specialist.
  - (4) The Approved Specialist may be involved in medical review committee upon the request of CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) as a member of, to review medical assessment for a particular airman if the medical standards are not met in his particular fields.
  - (5) Upon the request of CAA Some Approved Specialist may be involved in giving lectures on medical subjects related to their field of specialists.

# 3.10.2. The performance report of the specialist will be based on the following criteria:

- (a) Designated specialist must attend fifteen (15) hours approved continuous medical education, related directly to his Specialist.; at least 5 hours/ annually related to Aviation medicine to keep familiarity with general medical knowledge applicable to aviation.
- (b) The competency to the knowledge an understanding of Oman and CAA regulations, policies, and procedures related to medical certification, and CAA medical guidance and the publication.
- (c) The ability and capability to follow thoroughly the instruction regarding the technique of examination, medical assessment, and certification of the airman.

## 3.10.3. Obligations of Approved Specialist.

- (a) During the assessment of an Airman, the AME find the airman suffer from Medical problem that required further investigated and to be examined by specialist he/she has to refer him and inform CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) by writing within 48 hours.
  - (1) Airman physical examination must be done by the specialist personally in accordance the best practices.
  - (2) Thorough Investigation of the medical case, and if appropriate treat the pilot's problems.
  - (3) Recommend the issuance or denial of the CAA medical certificates in accordance with the current medical guidance subject to reconsideration by the CAA medical review committee assigned by the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
  - (4) If the Specialist does not have sufficient information, or is unsure of whether he/she should recommend the issue of a medical certificate, he may refer the case to another Specialist in the same field, but final report must be submitted through the approved specialist.

- (5) The Approved Specialist may be involved in medical review committee upon the request of CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) as a member of, to review medical assessment for a particular airman if the medical standards are not met in his particular fields.
- (6) Upon the request of the CAA some Approved Specialist may be involved in giving lectures on medical subjects related to their field of specialists.

#### 3.11. AeMC – Aero-Medical Centres

Aeromedical centers (AeMCs) will be designated and authorized, or reauthorized, at the discretion of the Authority for a period not exceeding one (1) year.

Additional requirements to be qualified for the issue medical certificates, including initial Class 1 medical certificates and age over sixty (60) years.

#### 3.11.1. Application for Aero-medical Centre (AeMC)

- (a) Medical Organization who are practicing medicine in sultanate of Oman wishes to be authorized by CAA as an AeMC shall apply in writing to Director of safety department requesting to be licensed as a CAA designated AeMC.
- (b) The CAA Flight Safety Department will send an AeMC application designation form to the candidate along list of required equipment within fifteen (15) working days.
- (c) The applicant should fill the formal application form and send it to CAA Flight Safety Department, along with all the necessary supporting documents:
  - (1) The documentation for the approval of an AeMC should include the names and qualifications of all medical staff, a list of medical and technical facilities for initial Class 1 aero-medical examinations and of supporting specialist consultants.
  - (2) Documentation demonstrating that they comply with the requirements including evidence of successful completion of the training course in aviation medicine appropriate to the privileges they apply for.
  - (3) A written declaration that, once the AeMC designation approved, the AeMC will issue medical certificates on the basis of the requirements of this Medical Manual.
- (d) After receiving and reviewing the document the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) will set up a date with applicant for a facility survey and formal interview.
- (e) Provided that the document, the survey, and the interview are satisfactory, a designation letter will be sent to the applicant after making all necessary payments.

#### 3.11.2. AeMC Requirements:

- (a) The availability of at least one SAME designated as Head of aeromedical center in the medical organization approved as an aeromedical center by CAA is a must to conduct the airman certification for Class 1 and Age above sixty (60) years.
- (b) The availability of at least one or more AME in the AeMC can conduct Class 1 certificate under direct supervision by SAME (Head of aero medical center).
- (c) Availability of SAME qualified to deputies the Head of aero-medical center on his absence is a
- (d) Presence of internal detailed Standards Operation Procedure (SOP).

#### 3.11.3. Head of Aeromedical Center

Shall be SAME qualified, of more than three (3) years' experience as aviation medical examiner of excellent performance report in CAA record, holding diploma in aviation medicine or attend advance course in aviation medicine, performing more than one hundred (100) Class 1 medicals in one year, of good understanding to the local law and regulation of aviation medicine.

#### 3.11.3.1. Duties of Head of aeromedical center.

- (a) Supervise the steps of aeromedical examination and assessment done by the AME.
- (b) Supervise the performance of other staff who are involved with the airman examination and assessment process at the AeMC as per CAA SOP.
- (c) Keep all medical records in a way that ensures that medical confidentiality is respected at all times.
- (d) Provides training for AMEs and other staff involved in Aeromedical examination process on CAA rules, regulation, and SOP.
- (e) Scheduled follow up with AMEs and the CAA, and when problems arise, looks at the pattern of mistakes and the documentation.
- (f) Monitor and review the re-instatement forms personally.
- (g) To identify high performers as well as the few whose performance is unacceptable or low.
- (h) Releasing the Reinstatements for all license holders.
- (i) Issuing of any changes under the CAA Aeromedical certificate and inserting or removal of any limitation on medical certificate.
- (i) The central point between AeMC and CAA Medical Assessor (MAs).
- 3.11.3.2. The Head of AeMC is responsible to develop an internal Audit procedure to confirm:
- (a) The presence of an approved internal SOP.
- (b) Audit the Performance of AVMED Nurses involved in special investigation part of the CAA examination.
- (c) All AMEs strictly adhere with the CAA medical standards and regulations, and
- (d) Monitor the performance AeMC staff involved in CAA examinations are strictly adhering with the code of conduct.
  - (1) The Head of AeMC should verify each activity within the Center on periodic review and document the audit reports securely within the facility for CAA review.
  - (2) The Head of AeMC will continuously update, and improve the processes where necessary and detail these in the report provided to the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) for review and approval
  - (3) The nurse and other administration staff should have a sufficient training on examination, assessment, documentation, and record keeping.
  - (4) The duty nurse is qualified to conduct Aeromedical examinations for the following:
    - (i) Height, weight, neck circumflex, waste measurement and BMI.
    - (ii) Blood pressure and pulse measurement
    - (iii) Visual acuity testing for near and far vision.
    - (iv) Color vision by Ishihara plates test.

- (v) Urine dipstick test.
- (vi) Collecting urine for drug of abuse testing.
- (vii) ECG
- (viii) SPEROMETRY / PEF
- (ix) Audiogram.
- (5) Administration staff should have knowledge about the CAA Medical examination procedure.
- (6) Presence of sufficient number of good performer AMEs who will be permitted to do Classes 1 and /or 2, and 3 and Cabin Crew certificates.

#### 3.11.4. SOP

Uniformity of the performance of a specific function, to perform the task of CAA examination and assessment the same way each time is highly important and clearly published as Standard Operation Procedures (SOP) which are detailed, written instructions within the premises of the AeMC to be followed by the staff who are involved in the CAA airman medical certificate, and used to:

- (a) Train staff (new AME, Admin assistance, Nurses) on the processes.
- (b) Describe the step of each function, and the duty of each staff, and identify the person for each task.
- (c) Training chart for all staff who are part of examination and assessment possess.

#### 3.11.4.1. Benefit of SOP

Protect the rights for all license holders attending CAA examination, by satisfying them that all CAA Aviation medicine activities conducted within the AeMC follows the rules, Regulation, and standard, in Aviation medicine and the CAA medical guidance & policies.

#### 3.11.5. Internal Management and verification system

It's important to create an internal management and verification system for any designated AeMC to ensure the compliance of all Examiner and staff who are involved in the assessment, and airman certification with the current approved medical guidance in relation to all CAA Examination, assessment, diagnosis and management before making any fitness decisions.

### 3.11.6. Equipment Requirements AeMC

- (a) CAA require the AeMC prior to practice designation, shall have adequate and decent facilities for performing the required medical examinations and assessment, and shall be equipped with medico-technical facilities adequate to perform aero-medical examinations necessary for the exercise of the privileges. The Head of AeMC shall notify at the time of designation, redesignation, or upon request from the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) that they possess and maintain the required equipment.
  - (1) The facility shall be approved by the Ministry of health.
  - (2) Each facility should have at least two SAME one of them act as head of AeMC and the other as his/her deputy, AME designated by CAA available with suitable number of trained AVMED nurses and administration staff.
  - (3) Standard Snellen Test Types for visual acuity (both near and distant) and appropriate eye lane.

- (4) external eye, anatomy, media and fundoscopy.
- (5) Color Vision Test Apparatus. Ishihara, 24 plate editions.
- (6) Visual fields;
- (7) Refraction; and
- (8) Heterophoria.
- (9) A 12-lead resting ECG, All Examiners must have access to digital electrocardiographic equipment with electronic transmission capability.
- (10) Pure-tone audiometer, All Examiners must have access to audiometric equipment or a capability of referring applicants to other medical facilities for audiometric testing
- (11) Otoscopy.
- (12) Rhinoscopy.
- (13) Tympanometry or equivalent.
- (14) Clinical assessment of vestibular system.
- (15) Spirometry. Pulmonary function test machine (Spirometry) and Peak expiratory flow rate, these machine should be an available within all the facilities.
- (16) Laboratory facility which should be available within the facility include those for routine aviation medicals namely blood and urine tests. Other required tests to be done in the clinic laboratory by a trained technician or if not available, at another laboratory within a reasonable driving distance from the main facility. X-Ray facilities and Drug screening facilities must either be available on premises or within a reasonable driving distance from the main facility.
- (17) Other more sophisticated equipment must either be available on premises or within a reasonable driving distance from the main facility.
- (18) A suitable computer, document scanner, modem and software package for communication with the CAA as the process of e-medical will be established for data transfer to the CAA in the coming year.

# 3.12. Guidelines for the AeMC, AME Conducting the Medical Examinations and Assessments for the Medical Certification of Pilots, ATC and Cabin Crew.

#### 3.12.1. Before performing the medical examination, the AeMC, AME:

- (a) Verify the applicant's identity by checking their identity card, passport, driving license or other official document containing a photograph of the applicant;
- (b) Except for initial If the applicant's flight license not available with him, the examiner can obtain details from the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs);
- (c) In the case of a specific medical examination(s) (SIC) limitation on the existing medical certificate, obtain details of the specific medical condition and any associated instructions from the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the applicant's licensing authority. This could include, for example, a requirement to undergo a specific examination or test;
- (d) Except for initial applicants, ascertain, from the previous medical certificate, which routine medical test(s) should be conducted, for example electrocardiography (ECG);

- (e) Provide the applicant with the application form for a medical certificate and the instructions for completion and ask the applicant to complete the form but not to sign it yet;
- (f) Go through the form with the applicant and give information to help the applicant understand the significance of the entries and ask any questions which might help the applicant to recall important historical medical data;
- (g) Verify that the form is complete and legible, ask the applicant to sign and date the form and then sign it as well. If the applicant declines to complete the application form fully, inform the applicant that it may not be possible to issue a medical certificate regardless of the outcome of the clinical examination and assessment.

### 3.12.2. Who May Be Certified

- (a) Age Requirements
  - (1) There is no age restriction or aviation experience requirement for medical certification.
  - (2) Any applicant who qualifies medically may be issued a Medical Certificate regardless of age.
  - (3) There are, however, minimum age requirements for the various airman certificates Pilots and Flight Instructors, and Ground Inspectors as follows:
    - (i) Airline transport pilot (ATP) certificate: twenty-one (21) years
    - (ii) Commercial pilot certificate(CPL): eighteen (18) years
    - (iii) Multi-crew pilot license (MPL): eighteen (18) years
    - (iv) Private pilot certificate: powered aircraft seventeen (17) years;
    - (v) Gliders and balloons sixteen (16) years

## 3.13. Obligations of the AeMC, AME, SAME,

- (a) When conducting aero-medical examinations and aero-medical assessments as required in this medical guidance, the AeMC, AME. Shall.
  - (1) Ensure that communication with the applicant can be established without language barriers
  - (2) Make the applicant aware of the consequences of providing incomplete, inaccurate or false statements on their medical history.
  - (3) Notify the licensing authority, or, in the case of cabin crew attestation holders, notify the competent authority, if the applicant provides incomplete, inaccurate or false statements on their medical history.
  - (4) Notify the licensing authority if an applicant withdraws the application for a medical certificate at any stage of the process.
- (b) After completion of the aero-medical examinations and assessments, the AeMC, AME shall.
  - (1) Inform the applicant whether he or she is fit, unfit or referred to the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, AeMC or AME, as applicable;
  - (2) Inform the applicant of any limitation that may restrict flight training or the privileges of his or her license, as applicable;

- (3) If the applicant has been assessed as unfit, inform his /her right to have the decision reviewed in accordance with the procedures of the competent authority;
- (4) In the case of applicants for a medical certificate, submit without delay to the CAA Medical Assessor (MAs) a signed, or electronically authenticated, report containing the detailed results of the aero-medical examinations and assessments as required for the Class of medical certificate and a copy of the application form, the examination form, and the medical certificate;
- (5) Inform the applicant of his or her responsibilities in the case of decrease in medical fitness.
- (c) AeMCs, AMEs, shall submit to the CAA Medical Assessor, upon request, all aero-medical records and reports, and any other relevant information, when required for:
  - (1) medical certification;
  - (2) oversight functions.

## (d) Evidence of medical fitness

- (1) The various ways in which Contracting States provide license holders with evidence that they meet the medical requirements are outlined as follows:
  - (i) To satisfy the licensing requirements of medical fitness for the issue of various types of licenses.
  - (ii) The applicant must meet certain appropriate medical requirements which are specified as FOUR Classes of Medical Assessment.
  - (iii) The Licensing Authority issues the license holder with the appropriate Medical Assessment, being Class 1, Class 2, Class 3 and Cabin Crew.
- (2) Two basic principles are essential when assessing an applicant's medical fitness for aviation duties as specified in Annex 1, Chapter 6, "Medical Provisions for Licensing," namely:
  - (i) The applicant shall be physically, psychologically and mentally capable of performing the duties of the license or rating applied for or held.
  - (ii) There shall be no medical reasons which make the applicant liable to incapacitation while performing duties.
- (3) The main objective of the CAA Medical Manual is to provide guidance material and present concepts on how to achieve these principles by assessing symptoms and signs that occur commonly in medical examinations for the aviation licenses but which have not been or cannot be included in detail in Annex 1.
- (4) It is also envisaged that the guidance material will help ensure international uniformity in the implementation of the SARPs.

# 3.14. Procedure for Auditing AeMC and AME Performance Evaluation

- (a) The purpose of such auditing is to ensure that AeMC and medical examiners meet applicable standards for good medical practice and aeromedical risk assessment.
- (b) CAA delegates the Audit and Performance Evaluation responsibility to the Medical Assessor (MAs) and a representative from Licensing Section.

- (c) Auditing the AeMC and AME shall be conducted Annually, with a three (3) month over-run allowed, by booking in advance a convenient date with the Accountable Manager (AM) of the AeMC and AME, two months prior to the actual Audit Date.
- (d) The AM and AME are responsible to arrange all documents and the facility as requested by the CAA Audit Team.
- (e) The Objective of the Auditing process has to be directed mainly toward Risk Assessment, performance capability, quality of Services, Adherence to the Rules, Regulation and Standards mentioned in the CAA Aeromedical Guidance Manual, which Include the following:
  - (1) Annual performance Rating which depends on:
    - (i) No examinations performed after twenty-four (24) months of initial designation.
    - (ii) Performance of less than ten examinations per year to maintain proficiency.
    - (iii) Knowledge of Sultanate of Oman rules, regulations, CAA policies, and procedures.
    - (iv) Number and seriousness of Mistakes and Negligence
    - (v) Any negligence or wrongful certification, which would permit medically unfit pilot or ATCO to perform their assigned duties (flying or controlling), that might create a safety hazard and serious for the public, for the Government, and for the Examiner. If the examination is fast and the Examiner fails to find a disqualifying medical illness that should have been discovered by a thorough and careful examination, the Examiner may bear the responsibility for the consequences of such action.
    - (vi) The percentage of accurate and completed examination reports.
    - (vii) The medical examinations conducted and performed by physicians in private practice who have been designated to represent the CAA for this purpose has to send complete and signed CAA medical examination form with all documents and investigation to Aeromedical Licensing Inspector for further review and monitoring
    - (viii) The number of intentionally ignore to report a disqualifying medical illness.
    - (ix) If an examiner intentionally ignores to report a disqualifying medical illness either observed during the examination process or otherwise known to exist. In this case, both the Airman/ATCO and the Examiner issuing the medical certificate may be found to have committed a violation of the law.
    - (x) Cases of falsification is an illegal act. This is true whether the false statement is made by the applicant, the Examiner, or both. In view of the pressures sometimes placed on Examiners by their regular patients to ignore a disqualifying physical defect that the physician knows to exist, it is important that all Examiners be aware of possible consequences of such conduct.
    - (xi) Perform self-examinations for issuance of a medical certificate to themselves or to an immediate family member.
    - (xii) Number of genuine complaints received by CAA against the AME
    - (xiii) Continuous medical education /annum
    - (xiv) Careless or incomplete reporting of the results of medical certification examinations.

- (xv) Failure to comply with the mandatory AME training requirements.
- (xvi) Failure to promptly email reports of medical examinations to the CAA
- (xvii) Any action that compromises public trust or interferes with the AME's ability to carry out the responsibilities of his or her designation.
- (2) Facility and Equipment as per CAA Standard which include:
  - (i) Availability of Required Equipment necessary for conducting Aeromedical Examination
  - (ii) The Periodic maintenance and calibration of the medical Equipment.
  - (iii) Quality of the facility assigned for conducting the Aeromedical Assessment including the reception area.
  - (iv) The Availability of trained administrative staff and other equipment e.g. computer
  - (v) The Availability of Trained Medical Staff.
- (3) The quality of conducting medical examination process.
- (4) Confidentiality and Record keeping facility and procedures.

Note: Refer to AGM-Form 3 for auditing procedures on pages 59/60/61

# 3.15. Audit Findings and Observations and AME Performance Evaluation

- (a) On completion of the audit conducted by the MAs a full debrief shall be given on areas of significant findings with an applicable resolution date if considered to be of extreme concern.
- (b) Hazards (or Risks) shall be categorized according to their source or location. Objective prioritization of hazards/risks may require categorizations according to the severity/likelihood of their projected consequences whereby these factors will facilitate the prioritization of risk mitigation strategies such that one uses limited resources in the most effective manner, resulting in elimination of or the controlling of that risk at an acceptable level of consequence.

	Risk Severity											
Risk Probability	Catastrophic	Hazardous	Major	Minor	Negligible							
	А	В	С	D	E							
Frequent (5)	5A	5B	5C	5D	5E							
Occasional (4)	4A	4B	4C	4D	4E							
Remote (3)	3A	3B	3C	3D	3E							
Improbable (2)	2A	2B	2C	2D	2E							
Extremely Improbable (1)	1A	1B	1C	1D	1E							

Risk Probability	Meaning	Value	Disciplinary			
Frequent 5A, 5B, 5C	Likely to occur many times (has occurred frequently)	5	Warning with corrective action plan			

#### **Aeromedical Guidance Manual**

Rev: 06

Occasional	Likely to occur sometimes (has	4	Interview with MAs assessor
4A, 4B	occurred infrequently)		with exam
Remote	Unlikely to occur, but possible (has	3	Interview with MAs
3A	occurred rarely)		
<u>Improbable</u>	Very unlikely to occur (not known	2	Draw to attention with the
2A, 2B, 2C	to have occurred)		auditee
<u>Extremely</u>	Almost inconceivable that the	1	Add to file for future
<u>improbable</u>	event will occur		evaluation

- (c) Based on the above matrix, risks can be categorised according to an assessment of their potential severity and probability. In the above matrix example, risks reflected as being unacceptable (red or yellow categories) must be mitigated so as to reduce the severity and/or probability. The organisation shall consider suspension of any activities that continue to expose the organisation to intolerable safety risks in the absence of mitigating actions that will either eradicate or reduce the risk to a manageable and acceptable level (green).
- (d) A full audit report will be provided to the AeMC or AME within seven (7) days, which will include those areas previously discussed and any other lesser findings or observations made during the course of the audit with applicable dates for resolution action.
- (e) All findings will be followed up prior to the closing date of action required and if extensions are required by the auditee, these will be requested in writing stating the reason for the extension, date extension, mitigating action that will ensure compliance standards are maintained. (E.g. extension due to equipment not being delivered by the expected date.)



# **AUDITING OF AEROMEDICAL CENTRES AND AME'S**

Date: 01 FEB - 2020

Rev: 01

# **CAA AUDITORS/INSPECTORS**

START DATE

**END DATE** 

1-

2-

			Aud	Audit Checklist for Aeromedical Centres and AMEs												
Organisation	Name:															
Address:																
Phone:		Email:														
Accountable I	Manager:					Phone:		Email:								
Total Staff:			Date of Designation	AME NO	Number of Medicals conducted/year	Phone	Medicals requiring more evidence	CME Hours/year	Remark/Findings							
Doctors Name:																
Doctors Name:																
Doctors Name:																
Doctors Name:																
Doctors Name:																
	Nurses Name		Date of employment		Number of Medicals conducted/year	Years o	ars of Experience CME Hours/year		Remark/Findings							
						-										
CAA Certification	granted	Yes	No			1										
MoH Certification		Yes	No													
Internal Audit Pro		Yes	No													
Audit Subjects			140		Remarks				Corrective Action Plan							
	enance and Calibration															

# **Aeromedical Guidance Manual**

Rev: 06

	Yes	No		
	Yes	No		
	Yes	No		
		No No		
Analis Cultinata	Yes	NO	Damada	Coursetine Action Plan
Audit Subjects		NI -	Remarks	Corrective Action Plan
	Yes	No		
Training of Nurses	T			
Nurses have completed Med examination course	Yes	No		
Continuous Training Programme established	Yes	No		
Document Control Procedures	Yes	No		
SOPs have been implemented	Yes	No		
Established filing of medical reports	Yes	No		
Standard examination forms covering	Yes	No		
the following:				
Standard Snellen Test Types for visual	Yes	No		
acuity				
external eye, anatomy, media and	Yes	No		
fundoscopy.				
Color Vision Test Apparatus. Ishihara, 24	Yes	No		
plate editions				
Visual fields	Yes	No		
Refraction & Heterophoria	Yes	No		
12-lead resting ECG	Yes	No		
Octoscopy	Yes	No		
Rhinoscopy	Yes	No		
Tympanometry or equivalent	Yes	No		
Clinical assessment of vestibular system.	Yes	No		
Spirometry. Pulmonary function test	Yes	No		
machine (Spirometry) and Peak				
expiratory flow rate				
Laboratory facility which should be	Yes	No		
available				
Sufficient IT Equipment available	Yes	No		
Audit of Nursing Staff conducting the follow	ving:			
Height, weight, neck circumflex , waste measurement and BMI.	Yes	No		
Blood pressure and pulse measurement	Yes	No		
Visual acuity testing for near and far	Yes	No		
vision.				
Audit of Nursing Staff conducting the follow	ving:			
5	•			

# **Aeromedical Guidance Manual**

R	ρī	<b>7</b> •	ሰ	6
11	Cν	•	v	v

Color vision by Ishihara plates test.	Yes	No		
Urine dipstick test.				
Collecting urine for drug of abuse	Yes	No		
testing.				
ECG	Yes	No		
Audit Subjects			Remarks	Corrective Action Plan
SPEROMETRY / PEF	Yes	No		
Audiogram.	Yes	No		
Other Findings	Yes	No		

CAA LEAD AUDITOR NAME	DATE	SIGN

AGM-Form: 03 – Audit Form (Rev: 01 – 20/02/2020)

**Intentionally Left Blank** 

# 4. Aeromedical Certification Requirements

#### 4.1. Introduction

- (a) Two basic principles are essential when assessing an applicant's medical fitness for aviation duties as specified in ICAO Annex 1, Chapter 6, "Medical Provisions for Licensing," namely:
  - (1) The applicant shall be physically, Psychologically and mentally capable of performing the duties of the license or rating applied for or held.
  - (2) There shall be no medical reasons which make the applicant liable to incapacitation while performing duties.
- (b) The main objective of the Manual of Civil Aviation Medicine is to provide guidance material and present concepts on how to achieve these principles by assessing symptoms and signs that occur commonly in medical examinations for the aviation licenses but which have not been or cannot be included in detail in ICAO Annex 1.
- (c) It is also envisaged that the guidance material will help ensure international uniformity in the implementation of the ICAO SARPs.
- (d) The foregoing two basic principles are explicitly detailed in the general, all-embracing paragraph 6.2.2 of ICAO Annex 1, Chapter 6:

# 4.2. Physical, psychological and mental requirements

- (a) An applicant for any Class of Medical Assessment shall be required to be free from:
  - (1) Any abnormality, congenital or acquired; or
  - (2) Any active, latent, acute or chronic disability; or
  - (3) Any wound, injury or sequelae from operation; or
  - (4) Any effect or side-effect of any prescribed or non-prescribed therapeutic, diagnostic or preventive medication taken;
  - (5) Any psychological or psychiatric illness which might affect the performance and awareness, Cognition, and Behavior might be affecting flying and public safety.
- (b) Such as would entail a degree of functional incapacity which is likely to interfere with the safe operation of an aircraft or with the safe performance of duties.
  - Note: Use of herbal medication and alternative treatment modalities requires particular attention to possible side-effects.
- (c) The provisions of Annex 1, 1.2.6.1, would apply if there is a decrease in medical fitness attributable to the effects of inter-current disease, injury, alcohol or other psychoactive substances, medication, fatigue, sleep disturbances due to time zone changes, adverse climatic conditions and disrupted regular work/rest schedules which might render the holder of a license or rating incapable of meeting the medical requirements of his license or rating.
- (d) Incapacitation: In this manual, the term "incapacitation" means any reduction in medical fitness to a degree or of a nature that is likely to jeopardize flight safety.

# 4.3. The requirements for medical assessments in ICAO Annex 1, Chapter 6, are listed under subheadings as follows:

- (a) Physical, psychological and mental requirements, covering matters of a general medical certification nature which apply to all types of licenses.
- (b) Visual acuity test requirements, detailing general visual acuity test requirements applicable to all categories of license.
- (c) Colour perception requirements, detailing general colour perception requirements applicable to all categories of licenses.
- (d) Hearing test requirements, detailing general hearing requirements applicable for all categories of licenses.
- (e) Class 1 Medical Assessment, covering matters applicable to applicants for a "professional license" such as a commercial pilot license — airplane or helicopter, an airline transport pilot license, airplane or helicopter, multi-crew pilot license, a flight engineer or a flight navigator license.
- (f) Class 2 Medical Assessment, covering matters applicable to applicants for a private pilot license — airplane or helicopter, a glider pilot license, a free balloon pilot license or a flight radio operator license.
- (g) Class 3 Medical Assessment, covering matters applicable to applicants for an air traffic controller license,
- (h) Cabin crew Assessment, covering matters applicable to applicant for cabin crew license.

# 4.4. General Medical Requirements

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021 |

- (a) The Standards and Recommended Practices established in any medical guidance, on their own, be sufficiently detailed to cover all possible individual situations, of necessity.
- (b) Many decisions relating to the evaluation of medical fitness must be left to the judgement of the individual medical examiner.
- (c) The evaluation must, therefore, be based on a medical examination conducted throughout in accordance with the highest standards of medical practice.
- (d) Predisposing factors for disease, such as obesity and smoking, may be important for determining whether further evaluation or investigation is necessary in an individual case.
- (e) In cases where the applicant does not fully meet the medical requirements and in complicated and unusual cases, the evaluation may have to be deferred and the case submitted to the medical assessor of the Licensing Authority for final evaluation. In such cases due regard must be given to the privileges granted by the license applied for or held by the applicant for the Medical Assessment, and the conditions under which the license holder is going to exercise those privileges in carrying out assigned duties.
- (f) Basic safety management principles, when applied to the medical assessment process, can help ensure that aeromedical resources are utilized effectively.
- (g) The applicant for a Medical Assessment shall provide the medical examiner with a personally certified statement of medical facts concerning personal, familial and hereditary history. The applicant shall be made aware of the necessity for giving a statement that is as complete and accurate as the applicant's knowledge permits, and any false statement shall be dealt with as falsification.
- (h) The level of medical fitness to be met for the renewal of a Medical Assessment shall be the same as that for the initial assessment except where otherwise specifically stated.
- (i) The purpose of the medical examination is to determine that no physical or mental condition exists which may reduce the applicant's medical fitness to a significant A-degree during the period of validity of the Medical Assessment.

(j) The medical requirements of Annex 1 are not concerned with social considerations or medical conditions of importance for employment, nevertheless, on initial issue of a Medical Assessment, it would be poor medical practice to encourage an applicant to pursue flight training if the minimum requirements of Annex 1 are barely met, especially in cases where further deterioration might be expected or is likely to occur. Likewise, it would be poor practice to disregard the preventive aspects of the regulatory examination for renewal.

# 4.5. Application Process for Medical Certification

#### 4.5.1. General Information - Replacement of Medical Certificates

Medical certificates that are lost or accidentally destroyed may be replaced upon proper application provided such certificates have not expired. The request should be sent to:

Medical Assessor Desk Public Authority For Civil Aviation Oman – Muscat

The airman's request for replacement must be accompanied by a remittance of five (5) OMR (cheque or money order) made payable to the CAA. This request must include the following:

- (1) Airman's full name and date of birth;
- (2) Class of certificate

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021 |

- (3) Place and date of examination;
- (4) Name of the Examiner; and
- (5) Circumstances of the loss or destruction of the original certificate.

The replacement certificate will be prepared in the same manner as the missing certificate and will bear the same date of examination regardless of when it is issued.

## 4.5.2. Operational limitation codes.

- (a) Operational multi-pilot limitation (OML Class 1 only)
  - (1) When the holder of a CPL, ATPL or MPL does not fully meet the requirements for a Class 1 medical certificate and has been referred to a Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, that Medical Assessor (MAs) shall assess whether the medical certificate may be issued with an OML 'valid only as or with qualified co-pilot'.
  - (2) The holder of a medical certificate with an OML shall only operate an aircraft in multipilot operations when the other pilot is fully qualified on the relevant Class and type of aircraft, is not subject to an OML and has not attained the age of sixty (60) years.
  - (3) The OML for Class 1 medical certificates shall be initially imposed and only removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
- (b) Operational safety pilot limitation (OSL Class 2 and LAPL privilege)
  - (1) The holder of a medical certificate with an OSL shall only operate an aircraft if another pilot fully qualified to act as pilot-in-command on the relevant Class and type of aircraft is carried on board, the aircraft is fitted with dual controls and the other pilot occupies a seat at the controls.
  - (2) The OSL for Class 2 medical certificates may be imposed and removed either by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, or by an AeMC or an AME in consultation with the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
  - (3) The OSL for LAPL medical certificates may be imposed and removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, an AeMC or an AME.

- (c) Operational passenger limitation (OPL Class 2 and LAPL privileges)
  - (1) The holder of a medical certificate with an OPL shall only operate an aircraft without passengers on board.
  - (2) The OPL for Class 2 medical certificates may be imposed and removed either by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, or by an AeMC or an AME in consultation with the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
  - (3) The OPL for LAPL medical certificates may be imposed and removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, an AeMC or an AME.
- (d) Operational pilot restriction limitation (ORL Class 2 and LAPL privileges)
  - (1) The holder of a medical certificate with an ORL shall only operate an aircraft if one of the two following conditions have been met:
    - (i) Another pilot fully qualified to act as pilot-in-command on the relevant Class and type of aircraft is on board the aircraft, the aircraft is fitted with dual controls and the other pilot occupies a seat at the controls;
    - (ii) There are no passengers on board the aircraft.
  - (2) The ORL for Class 2 medical certificates may be imposed and removed either by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, or by an AeMC or AME in consultation with the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
  - (3) The ORL for LAPL medical certificates may be imposed and removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, an AeMC or an AME.
- (e) Special restriction as specified (SSL)

The SSL on a medical certificate shall be followed by a description of the limitation.

**Note 1:** Any other limitation may be imposed on the holder of a medical certificate by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority, AeMC, AME or GMP, as applicable, if required to ensure flight safety.

**Note 2:** Any limitation imposed on the holder of a medical certificate shall be specified therein.

#### 4.5.3. Limitations to medical certificates (B)

- (a) GENERAL
  - An AeMC or AME and SAME may refer the decision on fitness of an applicant to the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority in borderline cases or where fitness is in doubt.
  - (2) In cases where a fit assessment may only be considered with a limitation, the AeMC, AME, and SAME or the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority should evaluate the medical condition of the applicant in consultation with flight operations and other experts, if necessary.
  - (3) Initial application of limitations
    - (i) The limitations TML, VDL, VML, VNL and VCL, (as listed in scale), may be imposed by an SAME, AME or an AeMC for Class 1, Class 2, and 3 and LAPL medical certificates.
    - (ii) All other limitations listed in the scale should only be imposed:
      - A. For Class 1 medical certificates, by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority where a referral is required according to the scale

- B. For Class 2 medical certificates, by the AME or AeMC in consultation with the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority where consultation is required according to scale.
- C. For LAPL medical certificates, by an AME or AeMC.

#### (4) Removal of limitations

- (i) For Class 1 medical certificates, all limitations should only be removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
- (ii) For Class 2 and 3 medical certificates, limitations may be removed by the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority or by an AeMC or AME in consultation with the Medical Assessor (MAs) of the licensing authority.
- (iii) For LAPL medical certificates, limitations may be removed by an AeMC or AME, and SAME

#### 4.5.4. Limitation Codes

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021 |

The following abbreviations for limitations codes should be used on the medical certificates as applicable:

CODE	Limitation
TML	Limited period of validity of the medical certificate
VDL	Valid only with correction for defective distant vision
VML	Valid only with correction for defective distant, intermediate and near vision
VNL	Valid only with correction for defective near vision
CCL	Correction by means of contact lenses
VCL	Valid by day only
RXO	Specialist ophthalmological examination(s)
SIC	Specific medical examination(s)
HAL	Valid only when hearing aids are worn
APL	Valid only with approved prosthesis
AHL	Valid only with approved hand controls
OML	Valid only as, or with, a qualified co-pilot
OCL	Valid only as a qualified co-pilot
OSL	Valid only with a safety pilot and in aircraft with dual controls
OPL	Valid only without passengers
ORL	Valid only with a safety pilot if passengers are carried
OAL	Restricted to demonstrated aircraft type
SSL	Special restriction(s) as specified

The abbreviations for the limitation codes should be explained to the holder of a medical certificate by the examining medical officer.

# 5. Medical Certification Requirements (Over Sixty (60))

In addition to the change in frequency of medical examinations stated in CAR FCL-3.250, when an applicant for a medical certificate has passed their 60<sup>th</sup> birthday the following requirements for all classes of medicals are to be implemented with immediate effect.

# 5.1. Initial issuance of over 60<sup>th</sup> birthday medical certificate requirements.

- (a) All initial over 60 medical certifications shall be done at the approved AeMC.
- (b) In addition to the usual medical assessment required by the class of medical over 40 years, the first medical assessment at age of 60 years should include:
  - (1) A psychological evaluation, which shall be conducted by a psychologist who has the privileges to conduct the neurocognitive assessment.
  - (2) Medical examination by a SAME or SAME equivalent which should include alcohol screening test [See paragraph (5.3) for alcohol screening].
  - (3) An extended eye examination by an ophthalmologist.
  - (4) Fasting blood glucose and a glucose tolerance test in cases where the initial test is abnormal.
  - (5) Lipid profile.
  - (6) Cardiac evaluation by stress ECG.
  - (7) Haemoglobin.
  - (8) Prostate test (either USG or PSA)

# 5.2. Revalidation Requirements.

Renewal of over 60 medical certificates can be conducted at any recognised AeMC. The license holder will undergo, in addition to the usual medical assessment requirements;

- (a) Every 6 months;
  - (1) An ECG.
  - (2) Fasting blood Glucose
  - (3) Lipid profile
  - (4) Haemoglobin
- (b) Every 12 months;
  - (1) Ophthalmology consultation
  - (2) Audiogram
  - (3) Stress ECG

# 5.3. Alcohol screening tests

#### 5.3.1. Indications

- (a) Screening as part of over 60 medical certifications.
- (b) As part of the medical evaluation determined by the AME during the regulatory medical examination.
- (c) New cases of cardiac arrhythmias especially Atrial Fibrillation, Insomnia, Mood disorders, Liver function derangement, Isolated Hyper triglyceridemic.
- (d) Newly diagnosed Hypertension,
- (e) Newly diagnosed Diabetes,
- (f) Suspicious Musculoskeletal injuries e.g. Rib fractures or Metacarpal fractures or Road Traffic Accidents,
- (g) New onset of Gout.
- (h) Any elevated MCV, isolated elevated GGT, elevated ferritin and elevated CDT detected on routine testing not related with clinical findings and investigated appropriately.
- (i) Referral following an aviation incident or work related issues.
- (j) Third party notifications for suspected Drug or Alcohol misuse.
- (k) Drink/Drug drive arrests whether local or international

#### **5.3.2.** Screening tools:

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021 |

# 5.3.2.1. A detailed interview and system review should be conducted with emphasis on the following:

- (a) Alcohol intake amount /type/how often
- (b) Smoking history
- (c) Family history of substance misuse
- (d) Physical dependence withdrawal symptoms
- (e) Sickness absence record pattern of frequent, short term, last minute leave is often seen with substance use disorder
- (f) Neurological issues
- (g) Cardiac arrhythmias/hypertension
- (h) Gastroenterology Gastritis/GORD
- (i) Injuries- recurrent or unexplained
- (j) Legal and social problems
- (k) Marital disharmony
- (I) Psychological problems

Note: See Appendix B for assessment forms.

#### 5.3.2.2. Examination

- (a) Physical dependence signs of withdrawal (e.g. irritability, restlessness, apprehension etc.)
- (b) General appearance complexion
- (c) Liver damage spider naevi, hepatomegaly
- (d) Hypertension
- (e) Pancreatitis
- (f) Cardiomegaly, arrhythmias

#### 5.3.2.3. Questionnaire

- (a) AUDIT (Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test) score of eight (8) or more suggests that there could be a problem with alcohol.
- (b) It should be correlated with history and clinical examination and blood tests.

# 5.3.3. Laboratory testing

- (a) **GGT (Gamma-Glutamyl Trasferase):** Is raised in about 80% of heavy drinkers, but is not a completely specific marker for harmful use of alcohol.
- (b) **MCV (mean Corpuscular Volume):** The MCV is raised above normal values in about 60% of alcohol dependent people and, like GGT, is not a completely specific marker. The value takes 1-3 months to return to normal following abstinence.
- (c) CDT (Carbohydrate Deficient Transferring): CDT has similar properties to GGT in so far its use as a screening test is concerned. It is more specific to heavy drinking than GGT, but perhaps less sensitive to intermittent "binge" drinking. In persons who consume significant quantities of alcohol (> 4 or 5 standard drinks per day for two weeks or more), CDT will increase and is an important marker for alcohol –use disorder. CDT usually increases within one week of the onset of heavy drinking and recovers 1 to 3 weeks after cessation of drinking. Any elevation of CDT requires immediate grounding, plus a liver ultrasound to assess for biliary disease and a full report from a substance abuse specialist must be provided to the PACA medical assessing officer regarding the alcohol intake.
- (d) **Others if indicated** (e.g. LFTs, Triglycerides, Ferritin, Liver Ultrasound, Urine EtG/PeTH) will be considered when making the final evaluation report.

#### 5.3.4. Laboratory evaluation

In the presence of a high index of suspicion, the AME will without delay, evaluate the applicant against all the assessments as per the PACA Alcohol Use Disorder Form and then the AME should refer the case to the SAME and/or PACA Medical Assessor for further evaluation and recommendation.

# 6. APPENDIX A – MEDICAL FORMS

AC	
CAA	
The second secon	٨

## APPLICATION FORM FOR AN AVIATION MEDICAL ASSESSMENT

PE	LO/111.1	(pag	(page 1 TO BE COMEPLETED BY THE APPLICANT)							MEDICAL IN CONFIDENCE						
1. F	First Name:	2.N	Middle	names: 3.Last Name:						4. Date of Examination (dd/mm/yyyy):						
5. L	icense number (or Temporar	y Licens	e numb	ber): 6. Stat			taff Number			7.Date o	cate Expiry	,				
8. D	Pate of birth (dd/mm/yyyy):	9. Age:	10.	Place and country of birth: 11. Na			11. National	lity:	12.	Gender:		13. Passport number:				
	Passport issue date /mm/yyyy):		assport m/yyyy					ion and rank:				17. Employer:				
	Permanent Address:	• •			19. Te	lep	ohone number	::		20. Em	ail:					
21.	Flight Hour/6 months:				22. Air	cra	afts flown:									
23.	Type of License applying (tio	ck the ap	plicable	e):	Oman	ni		☐ Foreign		25. Fo	oreign li	cense det	ails (if appl	licabl	e):	
	Airline Transport Pilot (Ai				Pilot		Flight Navi					se held:	License			
	Airline Transport Pilot (Helicopter)				Pilot		Air traffic (	Controller								
Commercial Pilot (Airplane)				Free Balloon Pilo	ot		Remotely (Drones)	Piloted A	Airc	ra State	of issue:	Class	Any lin	nitati	on	
Commercial Pilot (Helicopter)				Student Pilot			Cabin Crew	,								
	Multi-Crew Pilot (Airplan	ie)		Flight Engineer												
Init	Purpose of medical examinatial  I	•	•	Yes 🔲	<u> </u>											
	horisation for Special issuand Have you ever had an aviatio		1 1 0000	cement denied cue	enended o	or r					1	Date:				
	Yes	ii ivicuica	ai Assec	ssment denied, sus	spended (	<i>J</i> 1 1	icvoked by an	ly needshig a	um	nity:						
	ves, discuss with medical exa		Dat		Place			Details:								
Yes	Any aircraft accident or repo	rtea inci	dent sin	ice last medical?												
Dat				Details:												
28.	Do you drink alcoholic bever	rages?		29. Do you smo	oke tobac	со	products?						on, includi	ng no	on-	
No	☐ Yes ☐			Never P	Previously	у		prescribed				Yes 🗌				
If y	es, weekly intake in units:			Currently				Name		D	Oose	e Purpose				
				Number of ciga	rettes/da	У_										
				Since	_											
	General and medical history stion. Elaborate YES answers				r had, an	ıy o	of the followi	ing? YES or	NC	) (or as i	ndicated	l) must b	e ticked af	ter ea	ach	
	•	Yes No					Yes No			Yes	No			Yes	No	
·	disorders/eye surgery			nsciousness for an				Heart or vasco lisease			tr	exually ansmitted				
	ctacles and/or contact ses ever worn		Neuro	ological disorders;				High or low b pressure	loo	d		dmission ospital	to			
	ctacle/contact lens			ological/ psychiati	ric troubl	le		Kidney stone blood in urine				isit to me				
	scriptions/change since medical exam		of any	SOFT				oiood iii urine	,		Îa	ractitione st medica xaminatio	al			
Hay	fever, or another allergy		Alcoh	ol/drug/substance	abuse			Diabetes, horn	moi	ne	A		illness or			
Ast	hma, lung disease		Attem	pted suicide				Stomach, live			D	izziness				
Dea	afness, ear disease		Motio medic	n sickness requiri	ng		I	Deafness, ear disease			fainting spells Frequent or severe headaches					
	se or throat disease or		Anaer	nia/Sickle cell trai	it/other		1	Nose or throa			A	positive	HIV			
spec	ech disorder	blood disorders						disease or spe	ech	1	te	ests				

Head	injury or concussion			Mala	ria or other	tropica	l disease	Э								nt or seve	ere			
Fami	ly history of	+		Fami	ly history of	ies/			+	Family 1		y of headach Family				of:				
Tube	rculosis			asthn	na/ eczema						Inherite	d diso	rders		I	Diabete	es			
Fami	ly history of Epilepsy			Famil diseas lipids	ly history of se/high bloo	f heart od press	sure/hig	h			Are you	pregn	nant?				ological al probl			
Rema	arks for any significant his																			
rem	and for any significant in	story.	110111	nem (	1) to (33).															
				то	BE COME	PLET	ED BY	TH	E AER	OM	EDICA	L EX	AMIN	NER				Page	2	
32. D	ate of Examination (dd/m	nm/yy	yy):	33.	Height	3	34. Weig	ght		35	5. BMI			Ches			37.Wa	aist In	or c	m:
														. In o . In o						
	lentifying marks, scars, ta	ttoos	or		39.Blood	pressu	re:	40	).Pulse (	(rest	ing)		41.			EVIO	US or	NEX	T	
defor	mity:												Date		//					
Hair	colour:				Systolic	Dias	stolic	R	ate	F	Rhythm		CXI		//					
•	olour:							(b	pm)		Norma		AUI	DI	//	·				
Physi	cal impression:										Abnor	mal	0							
42. C	linical Examination				No	ormal	A	bnor	rmal								Norma	l		
Abno	rmal , face, neck, scalp	1		X7							T.T	0.1	12	.1			1			
	h, throat, teeth				ose veins s, chest, bre	asts					Upper Spine	& low	er iin	nos, jo	oints					
Nose	, sinuses			Heart							muscu	loskele	etal							
Ears, motil	drums, eardrum			Abdo	men, hernia						Neurol	ogic -	refle	xes, e	tc					
	orbit & adnexa; visual		H	liver, spleen							Psychi	atric								
fields																				
	<ul> <li>pupils and optic fundi</li> <li>ocular motility;</li> </ul>				rectum			Skin,	ving n	narks	and ly	mphatic	26							
nysta	gmus			Genito-urinary system							identii	ymg n	iarks	and 1	mpnaci					
	ılar system	1.0	1		crine system		C				Genera	al syste	emic							
Notes	:: Describe every abnorma	al fino	ling (	attach	additional	sheets 1	if necess	ary)	).											
	aboratory and Clinical tes	sts				N	Normal	Α	bnorma	al	Con	nments	S							
Urina	Expiratory Flow (L/min)																			
	noglobin																			
ECG																				
	ogram nalmology																			
ENT																				
	l Lipids																			
Tymi	onary Function																			
Other												,			1					
	44. Does the candidate p	posses	ss gla	isses?		Distant		S	5	C		Α			S	- (		A		
	□Yes □ No				-	Near	Right	-						Left						
	45. Distant vision at 5m	/6m					Unc	orre	ected	<u> </u>	Correcte	ed to w	v/ glas	sses	Corre	cted to	w/ Cont	act lei	ises	
	43. Distant vision at 3m	/ 0111				Right							8							
uity						Left	T.T		1		C	. 1	./ .1.		C	1	/ C	1		
al ac	46. Intermediate vision	N14 a	at 100	) cm		Right	Unc	corre	ected		Correcte	ea to v	v/ gias	sses	Corre	cted to	w/ Cont	act lei	ises	
Visual acuity						Left														
	47. Near Vision N5 at 3	0-50	cm			Uncorrecte					Correcte	ed to w	v/ glas	sses	Corre	cted to	w/ Cont	act lei	ises	
						Right Left				+										
	48. Colour perception					Norma					Abnorm	ıal		]						
	49. Pseudoisochromatic	•	s			Type: 1	Ishihara	(	/24)	I	Pass 🗌		Fail		Partial					
	<ul><li>50. Advanced colour tes</li><li>51. Conversational voic</li></ul>		at 2n	n back	turned	Right		T	Yes 🗌			N	0		Left Yes			N	o 🔲	
Audit	to examiner					<i></i>						- '				- 50		- ''		
4	52. Audiometry																			

# **Aeromedical Guidance Manual**

Rev: 06

	Hz	500	1000		2000	3000			
	53. Right								
	54. Left								
55. AME Recommendation									
☐ Issue ☐ Denial ☐ Referral ☐ limitations									
Class o	of License issue		Next Medical Ex	amination (dd/mm/y	уууу)				
	56. AME Declaration: I thereby declare that I have carefully considered the statement above, and to the best of my belief, they are complete and correct, and I have not withheld any relevant information or made and misleading statements.								
Exami	ners Name and certification number:	Examiners address:		AME Stamp			CAA Review:		
Place a	and date:	Examiners Email:					Acceptance  Yes No		
AME s	signature:	Examiners Telephon	e No:				If <b>No</b> give reasons:		



# OPHTHALMOLOGY EXAMINATION REPORT FORM

APPLICANT'S DETAILS	Tennie e	-		Contable on		100.00			CALIN	CONFID	ENC
First Name	Middle N	ame.		Last Name		Licer	die hu	TIDE!			
Date of birth (dd/mm/yyyy)	•									Renew	al :
State applied to:				Medical certifice		-					
Consent to release medical infor and, where necessary, to the medi- completion of a medical assessmenthem according to national law. Me Data: 7 / Signature of the	cel assessor of and will be dicel Confide	of the licens ome and re	sing authority, re emain the proper	ecognising that these by of the licensing as	documents or	electronic g that I or	ally sto	red deta,	ere t	o be used	d for
Examination Category		almologica	al history:	- 9	Property and an extend		2000	Section 1	1	ee To	575
Initial					Current spect	MCRES :	SPH	CYL	AX	8 1	VA
Renewal / Revalidation				33	Right eye	- 30	- 3	1 8		18	
Special referral				)?	Lot eye	-1	-			-	_
Clinical Examination	OH 1			Visual scult		- 8	-	<del>)</del> 8		3/2	_
Check each fam	Norn	-	Abnormal	10000000000	on at 5 m/6 m						
Eyes, ordernal & syelids	North	nat .	Abronna	Uncorrected				Spectaci	ies C	ontact le	inee
Eyes, Exterior (slit lamp, ophth.)	10	- 3		Right eye		Corrects			$\Box$ T		
-1-c many the imply object.		1		Left eye		Corrects					
Eye postion and movements	193		3	Both eyes		Corrects	d to		T		
Visual fields (confrontation)	36	- 3	\$ 1	Intermediate v	defend of the		123				
Pupillary reflexes	3.5		<u> </u>	Uncorrected	ABJOID AT THE			Speciaci	es C	ontact is	
Fundi (Ophthalmoscopy)	- 32	- 3	<u>(                                    </u>	Right eye	1	Corrects			T	-	
Convergence	cm	- 1		Left eye		Соглеста	d to				
Accommodation	D	-	<del>-</del>	Both eyes		Corrects	d to				
Ocular muscle belance (In prieme Distant at 5m/0m	dioptres)	eer at 30/5	0.em	Near vision at Uncorrected			- 002	Spectack	es C	ontact le	mee
Ortho	Ortho			Right eye		Correcte	_		T		
Eso	Esp			Let eye		Correcte	d to		- 18		
Exp	Exe			Both eyes		Correcte	d to		- 8		
Hyper	Hyper			i ibanan	20012	or the last of	100	19.000	15,23	200000	10
Cycle	Cycle	tedaysva	rocconsins 1	Refraction	Sph	Cylinde	If.	Axis	N	der (add	3
Tropie Yes No No Pusional reserve testing Not perfor	Phone	Yes _		Right eye Left eye	2 - 1	-	-		235		
Pusione reserve reserve perior	mec   ream	Her Cl. John	amer 🗆		ton examined Sp	nertheries o	reservi	dion hase	-4		_
Colour perception	-			E S	Service Control	0.000		1000	100		
Pseudo-isochrometic plates No. of plates:	No. of en	ander .		Spectacles			Contra	t lenses			
Advanced colour perception tests			No 🗆		ia 🗆		es	No	1		-
Method	es mucasau	Test []	U	Туре:	10 mili	100	Туре				
Colour SAFE	Colour Ut	NBAFE [	(S (S)	3							
Debatos Succes	1 Paris			Intra-oculer pr	THE SAME						_
Refractory Surgery Type of Surpery	Date: Complicat	ligh of side	effect	Right (mmH		L	eft (m	mHg)			_
Type to Gurgery	Compace	non or see	enecs	Method:	22			w c	Al	nomal	_
Only the large state and as a second	and all the con-			8 8							
Ophthalmic remarks and recomm	mendations:										_
(Remeta):											
(322) Examiner's Declaration:	1000-000		en e	27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 2							_
I hereby certify that I'my AME Grountachment embodies my findings o				it named on this med	ical examination	report end	that ti	is report	with a	ty	
(323) Place and date:			<u> </u>	ame & Address: (B)	ock Capitals)	AME	or Spe	cialist St	amp 8	No.:	_
AME signature:			hone No.								



# OTORHINOLARYNGOLOGY EXAMINATION REPORT

ELO 111.3 int Name	APPLICANT'S DETAILS  [Middle Name: Last Name		Lio	Licerne number					
de of birth (diskrenvigyyy)	SEC.	0.00		Sec			Application		
7/0				Male			Initial	Renewo	
fe applied to				Medical des	tricate applied to	M			
sent to release medical inform	ation: I hereb	y authorize	the release of	al information	contained in the	a report and a	ery or all attachers	etts to the Ale	
where necessary, to the medic completion of a medical assessment set to them according to national set.	law Medical	Confidents			100	ts or electron providing the ure of AME:	ically stored data, I for my physician	mey have	
	ature of the ap	DICALL			ogran	ar to Alect			
amination Category Otor	ninolaryngolog	v history:							
vital		Alexandri							
nical examination		Market S	Marian and	Pure fone	audiometry .	Merc			
heck each item		Normal	Abnormal	Late	di HL (hearing	(avel)	Lefter		
ead, fece, neck, scalp uccal cavity, seeth		1		250	Right ear		Partient		
haryru		18 8		500	λŚ		2		
and passages and naeophwyrix (	incl. anterior	300 2	- 1	1000	13		30		
resecuty)	GUIL-ST	45 - 4		2000	93		33		
etibular system incl. Romberg te each	ž:	10 9	-	4000	16		18		
TURNS.		3 3	- 5	6000	1		83		
appliatic meetl, tympanic ment	ranies	13 3	1	8000	10		83		
eurratic otoscopy		10 5	9	13					
padance lympsnometry including	(%	18 3	1 1	Audigra					
delve maneuver (initial only)	02		1	dB/HL	a = föght x = Left	80	* air bone	P. C.	
dditioner leating (if inclosited)	Not performed	Normal	Abromai	-10				8 7	
seech sudiometry	3		3 8	10	31 81	9 3	85 18	31 88	
sterior rhinoscopy	3 3		3 8	20	S 33	14 (3)	3/5	S 25	
CC; spontaneous and attorial nyetagmus				40	3 3	8 8	1 1	8 3	
ferential paloric test or westbuter	3 3		* *	50	2 1	0 0	10 10	8 8	
protetion text				60	3 3	3 3	3 13	3 3	
ror or fibre laryngoecopy	6 00			70	S 18	£ 3:	36 36	33 195	
MILLIOCHES CHESTS		_	-	80	37 38	§ §	35	30 38	
ethinolaryogology remarks and	recommende	don:		100	8 21	3 3	2 3	3 24	
				110	8 8	9 8	S 35	30 00	
				120	3 8	3 3	28 22	3 3	
				Hz 25	0 500 1	000 2000	3000 4000 6	5000 8000	
Remarks				Hz 2	0 500 1	2000 2000	3000 4000 6	5000 500	
aminer's declaration:	have semons	illy exercise	d the spolicent	named on this	medical examin	ation record as	nd that this record v	offin arru	
tachment embodies my findings of tace and date:		сописту.	aminer's name			A. C.	or apecialist stary		
WE signature:		Telepho Telepho							

# **Aeromedical Examination & Certification Review & Monitoring Form**

دالطيران لود ب		Aeromed		nation and Cer	tificati	on
Applicant Name			License No.		Date	
AME NAME			AME No.	Д	Appl Rank	
Type of License			Class	L	imitation	
AME Decision	☐ Issue	□ Referral	□ Denial	☐ Issue with Limitation		
	Findin	gs	Exam Date		Received Date	
				PACA Requirement For Co	orrection	
		Details of Previous Fa	ulty Medicals			Date
Name A	eromedical	Licensing Inspector		Signature		Date

**Comments:** 

**AGM Form 01 – Review & Monitoring (Rev: 01 – 20/02/2020)** 

# **Declaration Form – Aeromedical Certificate**



# Declaration Form Aeromedical Certificate

مدني	ر نظیران ال	هیئة ا			ACIO	Jilleuic	ai Cei ti	IIICa	i.e		
CANDIDATE DETAILS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE APPLICANT  First Name											
First Nan	irst Name Middle Name Last Name Crew Position						License No				
							☐ Pilot ☐	-			
□ C/C											
Type of lic	ense		Class		Omani/Fore	ign License De	etails	gn License Details if applicable)			
□ Omani Li	cense				License No.	Medical Ex	oiry date	S	state of Issue		
☐ Foreign L	icense					DD/MM	/YYYY				
CANDIDAT	E IDEN	TIFICATION 1	го ве	COMPLETED	APPLICANT APPLY	ING FOR CERT	TIFICATE				
Gender	N	IATIONALITY	,		Perso	nal Address			Telephone No.		
□М											
□F											
Passport No.	Plac	e of Issue		sue Date	Expiry Date		Operat	or Addre	ss		
					55/WW/1111						
					Declaration						
not withheld with this app withdraw any information cand, where no and, where no The Medi  The Medi  The Medi  Other hea  I re pro  The NOTIFICA  NOTIFICA  Ass	<ul> <li>Other health professionals and administration staff as part of the medical assessment process.</li> <li>I recognize that these documents or electronically stored data are to be used for completion of a medical assessment and for oversight purposes, providing that I or my physician may have access to them according to Sultanate Oman law.</li> <li>The medical record will become and remain the property of the Licensing Authority.</li> <li>Medical confidentiality will always be respected.</li> <li>NOTIFICATION OF DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL DATA:</li> </ul>										
Арі	plicant	signature		Wit	ness Name	Witn	ess Signature		Date		

AGM Form 02 – Declaration Statement (Rev:01 – 11/07/2021)

# Otorhino-laryngology (Class 1&2) - Assessment Form



**Medical in Confidence** 

# **Civil Aviation Authority**

# **FUNCTIONAL HEARING ASSESSMENT/SPEECH DISCRIMINATION TEST**

Based on ICAO guidance, hearing loss greater than the requirements may be acceptable, provided that there is normal hearing performance against a background noise that reproduces or simulates the masking properties of the flight deck noise in the cockpit upon speech and beacon signals. This test should be conducted where background noise is representative of the noise in the cockpit of the type of aircraft for which the pilot's license and ratings are valid. Both aviation-related phrases and phonetically balanced words should be used in the speech material for discrimination testing.

1. PERSONAL DETAILS									
Name:		.:							
Place of Test: Aircraft / Simulate									
2. DETAILS OF TEST YES NO N									
		imulator / Other ases of flight?							
wi		her hearing loss inter raffic Control and/or flight?		-					
3. Ca	an he/sh	ne accurately identify r	non-routine	R/T phra	seology?				
		he identify accurated notes to be accons?	ly the ider	ntification	n signals of the				
5. In	your op	oinion, does his/her he	earing loss in	nterfere v	vith flight safety?				
6. Ha	ave you	any other observation	s or comme	ents?					
(Please	state)								
Name: (SAME/AME)  Signature:  SAME/AME						ME No.:			
3. SUBMISSION INSTRUCTIONS									
Please return the completed for to:  Civil Aviation Authority,  Medical Assessor Office,  Licensing Section,  Flight Safety Department.									
CAA Form: OTORHINO-2 (Rev-2 – 10/10/21)									

# 7. APPENDIX B – ALCOHOL ASSESSMENT FORMS

#### Form 3 – Self Test Version

# The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Self-Report Version

PATIENT: Because alcohol use can affect your health and can interfere with certain medication and treatments, it is important that we ask some questions about your use of alcohol. Your answers will remain confidential so please be honest.

Place an X in one box that best describes your answer to each question.

			I		_	_
Qu	estions	0	1	2	3	4
1.	How often do you have a drink containing alcohol?	Never	Monthly or less	2-4 times a month	2-3 times a week	4 or more times a week
2.	How many drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you are drinking?	1 or 2	3 or 4	5 or 6	7 to 9	10 or more
3.	How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
4.	How often during the last year have you found that you were not able to stop drinking once you had started?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
5.	How often during the last year have you failed to do what was normally expected of you because of drinking?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
6.	How often during the last year have you needed a first drink in the morning to get yourself going after a heavy drinking session?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
7.	How often during the last year have you had a feeling of guilt or remorse after drinking?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
8.	How often during the last year have you been unable to remember what happened the night before because of your drinking?	Never	Less than monthly	Monthly	Weekly	Daily or almost daily
9.	Have you or someone else been injured because of your drinking?	NO		Yes, but not in the last year		Yes, during the last year
10.	Has a relative, friend, doctor, or other health care worker been concerned about your drinking or suggested you cut down?	NO		Yes, but not in the last year		Yes, during the last year
						Total

# Form 4 – Interview Version

The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Interview Version							
ask you some questions about your use of alcoh	fully. Begin the AUDIT by saying "Now I am going to solic beverages during this past year." Explain what examples of beer, wine, vodka, etc. Code answers answer number in the box at the right.						
<ol> <li>How often do you have a drink containing alcohol?</li> <li>Never [Skip to Qs 9-10]</li> <li>Monthly or less</li> <li>2 to 4 times a month</li> <li>2 to 3 times a week</li> <li>4 or more times a week</li> </ol>	6. How often during the last year have you needed first drink in the morning to get yourself going after a heavy drinking session?  (0) Never  (1) Less than monthly  (2) Monthly  (3) Weekly  (4) Daily or almost daily						
2. How many drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you are drinking?  (0) 1 or 2 (1) 3 or 4 (2) 5 or 6 (3) 7, 8, or 9 (4) 10 or more  3. How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion?  (0) Never (1) Less than monthly (2) Monthly	7. How often during the last year have you had a feeling of guilt or remorse after drinking?  (0) Never  (1) Less than monthly  (2) Monthly  (3) Weekly  (4) Daily or almost daily  8. How often during the last year have you been unable to remember what happened the night before because you had been drinking?  (0) Never  (1) Less than monthly						
(3) Weekly (4) Daily or almost daily Skip to Questions 9 and 10 if Total Score for Questions 2 and 3 = 0	(2) Monthly (3) Weekly (4) Daily or almost daily						
4. How often during the last year have you found that you were not able to stop drinking once you had started?  (0) Never  (1) Less than monthly  (2) Monthly  (3) Weekly  (4) Daily or almost daily	<ul> <li>9. Have you or someone else been injured as a result of your drinking?</li> <li>(0) No</li> <li>(2) Yes, but not in the last year</li> <li>(4) Yes, during the last year</li> </ul>						
5. How often during the last year have you failed to do what was normally expected from you because of drinking?  (0) Never  (1) Less than monthly  (2) Monthly  (3) Weekly  (4) Daily or almost daily	10. Has a relative or friend or a doctor or another health worker been concerned about your drinking or suggested you cut down?  (0) No  (2) Yes, but not in the last year  (4) Yes, during the last year						
Record total of specific items here  If total is greater than recommended cut-off, co	onsult User's Manual.						

#### Form 5 – Alcohol Evaluation Form

# CAA ALCOHOL USE EVALUATION FORM

Applicant Name	License Num.	Class	Rank	Date of bi	rth
AME NAME and Number				Nationality	/
Interview and system review				Yes	No
Alcohol intake – amount /type/how often					
Smoking history					
Family history of substance misuse					
Physical dependence – withdrawal sympto	ms				
Sickness absence record-pattern of frequer often seen with substance-use disorder Ne Cardiac – arrhythmias/hypertension			leave is		
Gastroenterology – Gastritis/GORD					
Injuries- recurrent or unexplained					
Legal and social problems					
Marital disharmony					
Psychological problems					
Details of the interview and System review	. i.f				
Examination				NORMAL	ABNORMAL
Physical dependence – signs of withdrawal apprehension)	(e.g. irritability,	restlessne	ess,		
General appearance- complexion					
Liver damage – spider naevi, hepatomegal	/				
Hypertension					
Pancreatitis					
Cardiomegaly, arrhythmias					

Laboratory test	Result
GGT (Gamma-Glutamyl Trasferase)	
MCV (mean Corpuscular Volume	
CDT (Carbohydrate Deficient Transferring)	
Others if indicated (LFTs, Triglycerides, Ferritin, Liver Ultrasound, Urine EtG/ PeTH)	

In the presence of high index of suspicion, the AME will without delay evaluate the applicant to all the assessments as per CAA Alcohol Use Disorder Form and then the AME should refer the case to the SAME and/or CAA for further evaluation recommendation.

Date of Issue: 01 Nov 2021 |